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UNITED STATES  

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
Washington, D.C. 20549  

 
FORM 10-Q  

 
(Mark One)  
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Commission File Number 0-8084  
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(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  
 

 
(860) 669-8636  

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)  
 

Not Applicable  
(Former name, address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)  

 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant  (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has been 
subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.  
Yes                        No �  
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting 
company.  See the definitions of “large accelerated filer”, “accelerated filer”, and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act (Check One).  
 

(Do not check if smaller reporting company)  
 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).  
Yes �    No   
 
APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE ISSUERS:  
Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer’s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date  
 

8,430,354  
 

Number of shares of common stock outstanding, June 30, 2008  
(Includes 48,318 common stock equivalent shares awarded under the Performance Stock Programs)  

   
   
 

     QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
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Non-Accelerated Filer �  Smaller Reporting Company �  
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS    
At June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands)    

              
              

ASSETS    
June 30, 

2008      
December 
31, 2007    

              
  Utility Plant    $ 394,383     $ 384,421   
  Construction Work in Progress      6,747       1,407   
      401,130       385,828   
  Accumulated Provision for Depreciation      (112,737 )     (108,166 ) 
    Net Utility Plant      288,393       277,662   
                  
  Other Property and Investments      6,674       6,652   
                  
  Cash and Cash Equivalents      181       337   
  Restricted Cash      8,361       8,220   
  Accounts Receivable (Less Allowance, 2008 - $452; 2007 - $352)      6,876       6,507   
  Accrued Unbilled Revenues      5,812       4,545   
  Materials and Supplies, at Average Cost      1,319       987   
  Prepayments and Other Current Assets      3,431       2,375   
    Total Current Assets      25,980       22,971   
                  
  Unamortized Debt Issuance Expense      7,471       7,685   
  Unrecovered Income Taxes      29,411       30,278   
  Post-retirement Benefits Other Than Pension      6,249       6,410   
  Goodwill      3,608       3,608   
  Deferred Charges and Other Costs      6,426       5,547   
    Total Regulatory and Other Long-Term Assets      53,165       53,528   
                  
      Total Assets    $ 374,212     $ 360,813   

                  
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES                  
                  
  Common Stockholders' Equity    $ 101,996     $ 100,098   
  Preferred Stock      772       772   
  Long-Term Debt      92,256       92,285   
    Total Capitalization      195,024       193,155   
                  
  Current Portion of Long Term Debt      7       7   
  Interim Bank Loans Payable      14,175       6,459   
  Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses      6,060       5,984   
  Accrued Taxes      1,123       1,316   
  Accrued Interest      854       810   
  Other Current Liabilities      276       337   
    Total Current Liabilities      22,495       14,913   
                  
  Advances for Construction      36,851       34,583   
  Contributions in Aid of Construction      49,178       47,865   
  Deferred Federal and State Income Taxes      29,549       28,616   
  Unfunded Future Income Taxes      24,553       25,404   
  Long-Term Compensation Arrangements      14,841       14,717   
  Unamortized Investment Tax Credits      1,529       1,560   
  Other Long-Term Liabilities      192       --  
    Total Long-Term Liabilities      156,693       152,745   
                  
  Commitments and Contingencies                  
                  
      Total Capitalization and Liabilities    $ 374,212     $ 360,813   



 
 

                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CAPITALIZATION    
At June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands, except share data)    

              
              

    
June 30, 

2008      
December 
31, 2007    

              
Common Stockholders' Equity              
  Common Stock Without Par Value Authorized - 25,000,000 Shares;    $ 65,387     $ 64,414   
    Shares Issued and Outstanding: 2008 - 8,430,354 ; 2007 - 8,376,842                  
    Stock Issuance Expense      (1,607 )     (1,606 ) 
    Retained Earnings      38,265       37,272   
    Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income      (49 )     18   
        Total Common Stockholders' Equity      101,996       100,098   
                  
Preferrred Stock                  
  Cumulative Preferred Stock of Connecticut Water Service, Inc.                  
    Series A Voting, $20 Par Value; Authorized, Issued and                  
      Outstanding 15,000 Shares, Redeemable at $21.00 Per Share      300       300   
    Series $.90 Non-Voting, $16 Par Value; Authorized 50,000 Shares                  
      Issued and Outstanding 29,499 Shares, Redeemable at $16.00 Per Share      472       472   
         Total Preferred Stock of Connecticut Water Service, Inc.      772       772   
                  
Long-Term Debt                  
  The Connecticut Water Company                  
    Unsecured Water Facilities Revenue Refinancing Bonds                  
      5.05%   1998 Series A, due 2028      9,640       9,640   
      5.125% 1998 Series B, due 2028      7,635       7,635   
      4.40%   2003A Series, due 2020      8,000       8,000   
      5.00%   2003C Series, due 2022      14,915       14,915   
      Var.      2004 Series Variable Rate, due 2029      12,500       12,500   
      Var.      2004 Series A, due 2028      5,000       5,000   
      Var.      2004 Series B, due 2028      4,550       4,550   
      5.00%   2005 A Series, due 2040      14,935       14,960   
      5.00%   2007 A Series, due 2037      15,000       15,000   
                      Total The Connecticut Water Company      92,175       92,200   
                  
  Unregulated Secured                  
      8.0% New London Trust, Due 2017      88       92   
                  
           Total Connecticut Water Service, Inc.      92,263       92,292   
           Less Current Portion      (7 )     (7 ) 
           Total Long-Term Debt      92,256       92,285   
                  
          Total Capitalization    $ 195,024     $ 193,155   

                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME    
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands, except per share amounts)    

              
    2008      2007    
              
              
Operating Revenues    $ 16,020     $ 14,446   
                  
Operating Expenses                  
  Operation and Maintenance      8,023       7,673   
  Depreciation      1,523       1,576   
  Income Taxes      1,166       966   
  Taxes Other Than Income Taxes      1,481       1,393   
       Total Operating Expenses      12,193       11,608   
                  
Net Operating Revenues      3,827       2,838   
                  
Other Utility Income, Net of Taxes      155       131   
                  
Total Utility Operating Income      3,982       2,969   
                  
Other Income (Deductions), Net of Taxes                  
  Non-Water Sales Earnings      204       181   
  Allowance for Funds Used During Construction      19       14   
  Other      (21 )     (85 ) 
       Total Other Income, Net of Taxes      202       110   
                  
Interest and Debt Expense                  
  Interest on Long-Term Debt      1,029       905   
  Other Interest Charges      105       219   
  Amortization of Debt Expense      99       93   
       Total Interest and Debt Expense      1,233       1,217   
                  
Net Income      2,951       1,862   
                  
Preferred Stock Dividend Requirement      10       10   
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock    $ 2,941     $ 1,852   

                  
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:                  
   Basic      8,368       8,249   
   Diluted      8,421       8,260   
                  
Earnings Per Common Share:                  
   Basic    $ 0.35     $ 0.22   
   Diluted    $ 0.35     $ 0.22   
                  
Dividends Per Common Share    $ 0.2175     $ 0.2150   
                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME    
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands, except per share amounts)    

              
    2008      2007    
              
              
Operating Revenues    $ 29,589     $ 27,608   
                  
Operating Expenses                  
  Operation and Maintenance      15,221       14,827   
  Depreciation      3,119       3,153   
  Income Taxes      1,784       1,640   
  Taxes Other Than Income Taxes      2,947       2,844   
       Total Operating Expenses      23,071       22,464   
                  
Net Operating Revenues      6,518       5,144   
                  
Other Utility Income, Net of Taxes      276       237   
                  
Total Utility Operating Income      6,794       5,381   
                  
Other Income (Deductions), Net of Taxes                  
  Gain on Property Transactions      --      41   
  Non-Water Sales Earnings      394       323   
  Allowance for Funds Used During Construction      34       26   
  Other      (43 )     (131 ) 
       Total Other Income, Net of Taxes      385       259   
                  
Interest and Debt Expense                  
  Interest on Long-Term Debt      2,085       1,782   
  Other Interest Charges      240       334   
  Amortization of Debt Expense      198       187   
       Total Interest and Debt Expense      2,523       2,303   
                  
Net Income      4,656       3,337   
                  
Preferred Stock Dividend Requirement      19       19   
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock    $ 4,637     $ 3,318   

                  
Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:                  
   Basic      8,359       8,241   
   Diluted      8,411       8,251   
                  
Earnings Per Common Share:                  
   Basic    $ 0.55     $ 0.40   
   Diluted    $ 0.55     $ 0.40   
                  
Dividends Per Common Share    $ 0.4350     $ 0.4300   
                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands)    

              
    2008      2007    
              
              
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock    $ 2,941     $ 1,852   
                  
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax                  
      Qualified Cash Flow Hedging Instrument Expense,                  
              net of tax expense of $38   in 2008; $11 in 2007      59       18   
      Adjustment to Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits Other                  
              Than Pension, net of tax benefit of $0 and $1 in 2008 and 2007      --      (1 ) 
                  
Comprehensive Income    $ 3,000     $ 1,869   

                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands)    

                  
    2008      2007    
                  
                  
Net Income Applicable to Common Stock    $ 4,637     $ 3,318   
                  
Other Comprehensive Income, net of tax                  
      Qualified Cash Flow Hedging Instrument Benefit,                  
              net of tax (benefit) of ($42)   in 2008; ($23) in 2007      (66 )     (25 ) 
      Adjustment to Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits Other                  
              Than Pension, net of tax benefit of $1 and $1 in 2008 and 2007      (1 )     (1 ) 
                  
Comprehensive Income    $ 4,570     $ 3,292   

                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS    
For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands, except per share amounts)    

              
    2008      2007    
              
              
Balance at Beginning of Period    $ 37,142     $ 35,373   
Net Income Before Preferred Dividends of Parent      2,951       1,862   
      40,093       37,235   
                  
Dividends Declared:                  
     Cumulative Preferred, Class A, $.20 per share      3       3   
     Cumulative Preferred, Series $.90, $.225 per share      7       7   
     Common Stock - 2008 $.2175 per share; 2007 $.215 per share      1,818       1,763   
      1,828       1,773   
                  
Balance at End of Period    $ 38,265     $ 35,462   

                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  
                  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RETAINED EARNINGS    
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands, except per share amounts)    

                  
    2008      2007    
                  
                  
Balance at Beginning of Period    $ 37,272     $ 35,676   
Net Income Before Preferred Dividends of Parent      4,656       3,337   
      41,928       39,013   
                  
Dividends Declared:                  
     Cumulative Preferred, Class A, $.40 per share      6       6   
     Cumulative Preferred, Series $.90, $.45 per share      13       13   
     Common Stock - 2008 $.435 per share; 2007 $.43 per share      3,644       3,532   
      3,663       3,551   
                  
Balance at End of Period    $ 38,265     $ 35,462   

                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS    
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2008 and 2007    

(Unaudited)    
(In thousands)    

              
    2008      2007    
Operating Activities:              
  Net Income    $ 4,656     $ 3,337   
                  
  Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by                  
  Operating Activities:                  
    Deferred Revenues      (896 )     (1,912 ) 
    Allowance for Funds Used During Construction      (56 )     (49 ) 
    Depreciation (including $318 in 2008, $169 in 2007 charged to other accounts)      3,437       3,382   
    Change in Assets and Liabilities:                  
      Decrease in Accounts Receivable and Accrued Unbilled Revenues      (1,637 )     (1,985 ) 
      Increase in Other Current Assets      (1,507 )     (841 ) 
      Decrease in Other Non-Current Items      1,003       725   
      (Decrease) Increase in Accounts Payable, Accrued Expenses and                  
        Other Current Liabilities      (45 )     1,598   
      Increase in Deferred Income Taxes and                  
        Investment Tax Credits, Net      919       1,152   
          Total Adjustments      1,218       2,070   
       Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by Operating Activities      5,874       5,407   
                  
Investing Activities:                  
   Company Financed Additions to Utility Plant      (7,136 )     (7,554 ) 
   Advances from Others for Construction      (171 )     (230 ) 
   Net Additions to Utility Plant Used in Continuing Operations      (7,307 )     (7,784 ) 
   Purchase of Eastern and H2O Services Assets      (3,500 )     --  
   Release of Restricted Cash      --      1   
        Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Used in Investing Activities      (10,807 )     (7,783 ) 
                  
Financing Activities:                  
   Net Proceeds from Interim Bank Loans      14,175       9,175   
   Net Repayment of Interim Bank Loans      (6,459 )     (5,250 ) 
   Proceeds from Issuance of Common Stock      484       593   
   Proceeds from the Exercise of Stock Options      90       --  
   Repayment of Long-Term Debt Including Current Portion      (28 )     (3 ) 
   Costs Incurred to Issue Long-Term  Debt and Common Stock      (1 )     --  
   Advances from Others for Construction      171       230   
   Cash Dividends Paid      (3,655 )     (3,555 ) 
         Net Cash and Cash Equivalents Provided by Financing Activities      4,777       1,190   
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents      (156 )     (1,186 ) 
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period      337       1,377   
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period    $ 181     $ 191   

                  
Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activites                  
   Non-Cash Contributed Utility Plant    $ 2,317     $ 558   
   Short-term Investment of Bond Proceeds Held in Restricted Cash    $ 8,361     $ --  
                  
Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:                  
   Cash Paid for:                  
     Interest    $ 2,357     $ 2,047   
     State and Federal Income Taxes    $ 1,410     $ 453   
                  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
The consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared by CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND 
SUBSIDIARIES (the “Company”), without audit, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and reflect 
all adjustments that are of a normal recurring nature which are, in the opinion of management, necessary to a fair statement of the results for 
interim periods.  Certain information and footnote disclosures have been omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations, although the Company 
believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not misleading.  The Balance Sheet at December 31, 2007 has 
been derived from the audited financial statements at that date but does not include all of the information and footnotes required by accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America for complete financial statements.  It is suggested that these consolidated 
financial statements be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto included in the Company’s latest annual report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 and as updated in the Company’s March 31, 2008 Form 10-Q.  
 
The results for interim periods are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year since the consolidated earnings are subject to 
seasonal factors.  
 
Reclassifications  
 
Certain reclassifications have been made to conform previously reported data to the current presentation.  
 
2. Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits  
 
The following tables set forth the components of pension and other post-retirement benefit costs for the three and six months ended June 30, 
2008 and 2007.  
 
Pension Benefits  
Components of Net Periodic Cost (in thousands):  
 

 
The Company plans to make a contribution of approximately $3,500,000 for plan year 2007 during the third quarter of 2008.  
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    Three Months      Six Months    
Period ended June 30    2008      2007      2008      2007    
Service Cost    $ 324     $ 320     $ 630     $ 639   
Interest Cost      488       447       953       894   
Expected Return on Plan Assets      (532 )     (504 )     (1,060 )     (1,008 ) 
Amortization of:                                  
     Transition Obligation      --      --      1       1   
     Prior Service Cost      17       17       34       34   
     Net Loss      46       86       71       172   
Net Periodic Benefit Cost    $ 343     $ 366     $ 629     $ 732   
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Other Post-Retirement Benefits  
Components of Net Periodic Cost (in thousands):  
 

 
The Company has concluded that the post-retirement welfare plan’s benefits will be considered actuarially equivalent to the benefits provided 
by Medicare Part D.  The Company does not intend to apply for the government subsidy for post-retirement prescription drug benefits, because 
it believes the costs associated with the administration of Medicare Part D would have outweighed the benefits received by the 
Company.  Therefore, the impact of the subsidy on the plan’s liabilities is not reflected in the June 30, 2008 disclosure.  
 
3. Earnings per Share  
 
Earnings per weighted average common share are calculated by dividing net income applicable to common stock by the weighted average 
number of shares of common stock outstanding during the respective periods as detailed below (diluted shares include the effect of unexercised 
stock options):  
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    Three Months      Six Months    
Period ended June 30    2008      2007      2008      2007    
Service Cost    $ 130     $ 153     $ 316     $ 325   
Interest Cost      138       161       329       306   
Expected Return on Plan Assets      (68 )     (48 )     (136 )     (95 ) 
Amortization of Transition Obligation      30       30       60       60   
Recognized Net Loss      11       100       101       171   
Net Periodic Benefit Cost    $ 241     $ 396     $ 670     $ 767   

Three months ended June 30,    2008      2007    
  Common Shares Outstanding              
     End of Period:      8,430,354       8,312,806   

  Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:                  
     Days Outstanding Basis                  
        Basic      8,367,559       8,249,113   

        Diluted      8,421,149       8,259,976   

                  
Basic Earnings per Share    $ 0.35     $ 0.22   
Dilutive Effect of Unexercised Stock Options      --      --  
Diluted Earnings per Share    $ 0.35     $ 0.22   

                  
Six months ended June 30,                  
  Weighted Average Shares Outstanding:                  
     Days Outstanding Basis                  
        Basic      8,358,722       8,240,816   

        Diluted      8,411,012       8,251,285   

                  
Basic Earnings per Share    $ 0.55     $ 0.40   
Dilutive Effect of Unexercised Stock Options      --      --  
Diluted Earnings per Share    $ 0.55     $ 0.40   
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Total unrecognized compensation expense for all stock awards was approximately $1,098,000 as of June 30, 2008.  
 
4. New Accounting Pronouncements  
 
In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair 
Value Measurement” (SFAS 157).  SFAS 157 provides a single definition of fair value, a framework for measuring fair value, and requires 
additional disclosure about the use of fair value to measure assets and liabilities.  SFAS 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
November 15, 2007; as such we partially adopted SFAS 157 in the first quarter of 2008.  In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff 
Position 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157”, (SFP 157-2), which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for non-financial 
assets and liabilities that are recognized or disclosed in the financial statements on a nonrecurring basis to fiscal years beginning after 
November 15, 2008.  We have not applied the provisions of SFAS 157 to our non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities in accordance 
with FSP 157-2.  Please see Note 5 for additional disclosures regarding fair value.  
 
In February 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159, “Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities – Including an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115” (SFAS 159).  SFAS 159 permits entities to choose to measure 
many financial instruments and certain other items at fair value.  The objective of SFAS 159 is to reduce both the complexity in accounting for 
financial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently.  SFAS 159 was effective for 
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.  The Company did not elect the fair value option for any of its existing financial instruments 
and has not determined whether or not to elect this option for financial instruments it may acquire in the future.  
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (Revised 2007) “Business Combinations” (SFAS 
141(R)), which establishes principles and requirements for how the acquiring company shall recognize and measure in its financial statements 
the identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, any non-controlling interest in the acquired company and goodwill acquired in a business 
combination. This statement is effective for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual 
reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  The Company is currently assessing the potential impact that the adoption of SFAS 
141(R) will have on its financial position and results of operations.  
 
In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, “Non-controlling Interests in Consolidated 
Financial Statements — an Amendment of ARB No. 51 ” (SFAS 160), which establishes and expands accounting and reporting standards for 
minority interests, which will be recharacterized as non-controlling interests, in a subsidiary and the deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 
is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.  The Company is currently assessing the potential impact that the 
adoption of SFAS 160 will have on its financial position and results of operations.  
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In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities – an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133” (SFAS 161).  SFAS 161 requires enhanced disclosures about an entity’s 
derivative and hedging activities.  Under SFAS 161, entities are required to provide enhanced disclosures about (a) how and why an entity uses 
derivative instruments, (b) how derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under Statement 133 and its related 
interpretations, and (c) how derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an entity’s financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows. This statement is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after November 15, 2008.  The Company is currently 
assessing the impact of SFAS 161.  
 
In May 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 162, “The Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles” (SFAS 162).  SFAS 162 identifies the sources of accounting principles and the framework for selecting the principles to be used in 
preparation of financial statements presented in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  SFAS 162 directs the 
hierarchy to the entity, rather than the independent auditors, as the entity is responsible for selecting accounting principles for financial 
statements that are presented in conformity with GAAP.  SFAS 162 is effective 60 days following SEC approval of the Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board amendments to remove the hierarchy of GAAP from the auditing standards.  The Company does not expect SFAS 
162 to have a material impact on its financial condition or results of operations.  
 
In June 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position EITF 03-6-1 (EITF 03-6-1), “Determining Whether Instruments Granted in Share-Based 
Payment Transactions are Participating Securities.”  EITF 03-6-1 states that unvested awards of share-based payments with rights to receive 
dividends or dividend equivalents are considered participating securities for purposes of calculating earnings per share.  As a result, these 
participating securities will be included in the weighted average number of shares outstanding as disclosed on the face of the income 
statement.  EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008, and interim periods within those years.  All prior 
period earnings per share data presented in financial reports after the effective date shall be adjusted retrospectively to conform to the 
provisions of EITF 03-6-1.  Early application is not permitted.  The Company does not expect EITF 03-6-1 to have a material impact on its 
reported earnings per share.  
 
5. Fair Value Disclosures  
 
The Company partially adopted SFAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, which among other things requires enhanced disclosures for assets and 
liabilities that are measured and reported at fair value and establishes a framework for measuring fair value.  SFAS 157 applies to accounting 
pronouncements that already require or permit fair value measures and does not require any new fair value measurements.  
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SFAS 157 establishes a fair value hierarchy that distinguishes between assumptions based on market data (observable inputs) and the 
Company’s assumptions (unobservable inputs).  The hierarchy consists of three broad levels, as follows:  
 

Level 1 – Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  
Level 2 – Inputs other than Level 1 that are either directly or indirectly observable  
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs developed using the Company’s estimates and assumptions, which reflect those that the Company 
believes market participants would use.  

 
The following table summarizes our financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis within the fair value hierarchy as of June 
30, 2008:  
 

 
In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. 157-2 which allows companies to elect a one year deferral of adoption of SFAS No. 157 for non-
financial assets and liabilities, except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring 
basis.  The Company has elected the deferral option permitted by FSP No. 157-2 for its non-recurring non-financial assets and non-financial 
liabilities.  Non-recurring non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities for which the Company has not applied the provisions of SFAS 157 
include those measured at fair value in goodwill impairment testing.  
 
6. Segment Reporting  
 
The Company operates principally in three business segments: Water Activities, Real Estate Transactions, and Services and Rentals.  Financial 
data for the segments is as follows (in thousands):  
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(in thousands)    Level 1      Level 2      Level 3    
Liabilities:                    
   Interest Rate Swap    $ -    $ 64     $ -  

Three Months Ended June 30, 2008    

Segment    Revenues      
Pre-Tax 
Income      

Income Tax 
Expense      Net Income    

Water Activities    $ 16,259     $ 3,985     $ 1,238     $ 2,747   
Real Estate Transactions      --      --      --      --  
Service and Rentals      1,270       339       135       204   
Total    $ 17,529     $ 4,324     $ 1,373     $ 2,951   

Three Months Ended June 30, 2007    

Segment    Revenues      
Pre-Tax 
Income      

Income Tax 
Expense      Net Income    

Water Activities    $ 14,698     $ 2,604     $ 923     $ 1,681   
Real Estate Transactions      --      --      --      --  
Service and Rentals      1,083       298       117       181   
Total    $ 15,781     $ 2,902     $ 1,040     $ 1,862   
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The Revenues shown in Water Activities above consist of revenues from water customers of $16,020,000 and $14,446,000 for the three months 
ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  Additionally, there were revenues associated with utility plant leased to others of $239,000 and 
$252,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  The Water Activities revenues for the six months ended June 30, 
2008 and 2007 consist of revenues from water customers of $29,589,000 and $27,608,000, respectively.  Additionally, there were revenues 
associated with utility plant leased to others of $485,000 and $480,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  
 
Assets by segment (in thousands):  
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2008    

Segment    Revenues      
Pre-Tax 
Income      

Income Tax 
Expense      Net Income    

Water Activities    $ 30,074     $ 6,190     $ 1,928     $ 4,262   
Real Estate Transactions      --      --      --      --  
Service and Rentals      2,337       646       252       394   
Total    $ 32,411     $ 6,836     $ 2,180     $ 4,656   

Six Months Ended June 30, 2007    

Segment    Revenues      
Pre-Tax 
Income      

Income Tax 
Expense      Net Income    

Water Activities    $ 28,088     $ 4,596     $ 1,623     $ 2,973   
Real Estate Transactions      92       68       27       41   
Service and Rentals      1,987       532       209       323   
Total    $ 30,167     $ 5,196     $ 1,859     $ 3,337   

    
June 30, 

2008      
December 
31, 2007    

Total Plant and Other Investments:              
Water    $ 294,400     $ 283,641   
Non-Water      666       673   
      295,066       284,314   
Other Assets:                  
Water      76,124       73,421   
Non-Water      3,022       3,078   
      79,146       76,499   
Total Assets    $ 374,212     $ 360,813   
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7.  Income Taxes  
 
In June 2006, the FASB issued interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 
109” (FIN 48), which became effective for the Company as of January 1, 2007.  FIN 48 addresses the determination of how tax benefits 
claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. Under FIN 48, we must recognize the tax 
benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing 
authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are 
measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution. The reassessment of 
our tax positions in accordance with FIN 48 did not have an impact on our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.  
 
From time to time, the Company is assessed interest and penalties by taxing authorities.  In those cases, the charges would appear on the Other 
line item on the Income Statement.  There were no such charges for the six month periods ended June 30, 2008 and 2007.  Additionally, there 
were no accruals relating to interest or penalties as of June 30, 2008 and December 31, 2007.  The Company remains subject to examination by 
federal authorities for the 2005 through 2007 tax years and by state authorities for the tax years 2003 through 2007.  
 
The Company’s effective income tax rates for the first six months of 2008 and 2007 were 31.9% and 35.8%, respectively.  The statutory 
income tax rates during the same periods were 39%.  In determining its effective income tax rate for interim periods, the Company projects its 
book and tax timing differences for the complete year and reflects the expected impact on its overall effective income tax rate.  The primary 
timing difference causing the effective rate to be lower than the statutory rate for both periods is the planned pension contribution that is greater 
than the SFAS 87 pension expense.  
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Part I, Item 2 : Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  
 
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the accompanying unaudited financial statements and related notes thereto and 
the audited financial statements and the notes thereto contained in our 2007 Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Regulatory Matters and Inflation  
 
During the three months ended June 30, 2008, there were no material changes under this subheading to any items previously disclosed by the 
Company in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2007.  
 
In April 2006, the Connecticut Department of Utility Control (DPUC) approved the Company’s application to merge Unionville Water 
Company (Unionville) and Crystal Water Company (Crystal) into The Connecticut Water Company (Connecticut Water).  The Company 
completed these mergers on May 31, 2006.  In July 2006, the Company filed a rate application with the DPUC for the newly merged 
Connecticut Water requesting an increase in rates of approximately $14.6 million, or 30%.  On January 16, 2007, the DPUC issued its final 
decision and approved a Settlement Agreement; negotiated with the Office of Consumer Counsel and the DPUC’s Prosecutorial Staff; that 
allowed Connecticut Water an increase of revenues of approximately $10,940,000, or 22.3%.  The Settlement Agreement allowed Connecticut 
Water to defer a portion of the approved rate increase.  The Company recognized that increase through recording deferred revenues and a 
corresponding regulatory asset, as required by the decision. From January 1, 2007 through March 31, 2008, the Company has recorded 
approximately $4.8 million in deferred revenues.  On January 31, 2008, the Company filed to reopen the case, a procedure required by the 
Settlement Agreement, to implement the second phase.  In addition to the approval for the inclusion in current rates of the previously approved 
deferred revenues of $4.8 million, the filing included requested recovery of the costs associated with $15.5 million of additional capital 
investments made in 2007.  This portion of the second phase of the increase (“re-opener”) was also called for in the Settlement Agreement.  
 
The total increase associated with the re-opener was a request of 12.6%, of which approximately 8.2% is for deferred revenues and 4.4% for 
the investment in additional capital in 2007.  Additionally, Connecticut Water agreed not to apply for a general rate increase that would become 
effective prior to January 1, 2010.  
 
The final decision on the re-opener was issued on March 28, 2008.  The decision allowed an increase of water rates charged to customers of 
11.95% or $6.7 million, effective April 1, 2008.  The Company began to see the effects of this increase in the second quarter of 2008.  
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Acquisition of the assets of Eastern Connecticut Regional Water Company and Birmingham H20 Services  
On January 16, 2008, the Company, through two of its wholly owned subsidiaries, Connecticut Water and New England Water Utility 
Services, Inc. (NEWUS), completed the acquisition of the regulated water utility assets of Eastern Connecticut Regional Water Company, Inc. 
(Eastern) and the unregulated assets of Birmingham H2O Services, Inc. (H20) for aggregate cash consideration of $3.5 million.  Eastern brings 
approximately 2,300 customers in 14 Connecticut towns to the Company.  
 
Announcement of acquisition of Ellington Acres Company  
On July 23, 2008, the Company announced that it had reached a definitive agreement with Ellington Acres Company (EAC) to purchase all of 
EAC’s outstanding stock for approximately $1.5 million.  EAC is a regulated water company serving approximately 750 customers in 
Ellington, Connecticut.  EAC is situated between two systems in the Company’s Northern Region that the Company had planned to 
interconnect.  With this acquisition, the Company will be able to interconnect the two current systems with EAC, saving the ratepayers of 
Connecticut Water and EAC significant capital expenditures.  The acquisition of EAC is dependent upon regulatory approval from the 
DPUC.  A decision is expected late in the fourth quarter of 2008 or early in the first quarter of 2009.  A copy of the stock purchase agreement is 
filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-Q as Exhibit 10.1.  
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates  
 
The Company maintains its accounting records in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
and as directed by the DPUC to which Connecticut Water, the Company’s regulated water utility subsidiary, is subject.  Significant accounting 
policies employed by the Company, including the use of estimates, were presented in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
 
Critical accounting policies are those that are the most important to the presentation of the Company’s financial condition and results of 
operations.  The application of such accounting policies requires management’s most difficult, subjective, and complex judgments and involves 
uncertainties and assumptions.  The Company’s most critical accounting policies pertain to public utility regulation related to Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulations” (SFAS 71), revenue recognition, and pension plan 
accounting.  Each of these accounting policies and the application of critical accounting policies and estimates was discussed in the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.  There were no significant changes in the application of critical 
accounting policies or estimates during the first six months of 2008.  Please see Note 4 of the financial statements for newly adopted and 
recently announced accounting standards.  
 
Management must use informed judgments and best estimates to properly apply these critical accounting policies.  Because of the uncertainty 
in these estimates, actual results could differ from estimates used in applying the critical accounting policies.  The Company is not aware of any 
reasonably likely events or circumstances which would result in different amounts being reported that would materially affect its financial 
condition or results of operations.  
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Outlook  
 
The following modifies and updates the “Outlook” section of the Company’s 2007 Form 10-K annual report filed on March 17, 2008 and first 
quarter Form 10-Q filed on May 12, 2008.  
 
The Company’s earnings and profitability are primarily dependent upon the sale and distribution of water, the amount of which is dependent on 
seasonal weather fluctuations, particularly during the summer months when water demand will vary with rainfall and temperature levels.  The 
Company’s earnings and profitability in future years will also depend upon a number of other factors, such as the ability to maintain our 
operating costs at or near historical levels, customer growth in the Company’s core regulated water utility business, additional growth in 
revenues attributable to non-water sales operations, and the timing and adequacy of rate relief when requested, from time to time, by our 
regulated water company.  
 
The Company believes that these factors and those described in detail in “Commitments and Contingencies” in Item 7 of its Annual Report on 
Form 10-K may have significant impact, either alone or in the aggregate, on the Company’s earnings and profitability in fiscal years 2008 and 
beyond.  Please also review carefully the risks and uncertainties described below under the heading “Forward-Looking Information.”  
 
Based on the Company’s current projections, the Company believes that its Net Income for the year 2008 will increase from the levels reported 
for 2007, primarily as a result of the second phase of Connecticut Water’s rate increase that was approved by the DPUC effective April 1, 
2008.  During 2008 and subsequent years, the ability of the Company to maintain and increase its Net Income will principally depend upon the 
effect on the Company of the factors described above in this “Outlook” section, those factors described in the section entitled “Commitments 
and Contingencies” in Item 7 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and the risks and uncertainties described in “Forward-Looking 
Information” sections below.  
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
The Company is not aware of demands, events, or uncertainties that will result in a decrease of liquidity or a material change in the mix or 
relative cost of its capital resources.  
 
As of June 30, 2008, the Company had approximately $8.4 million in restricted cash related to the issuance of the 2007 A Series Revenue 
Bonds, due 2037.  This amount represents cash that has not yet been spent on approved projects as part of the issuance of the debt in December 
2007.  The Company expects to spend all of the restricted cash on approved projects by the end of 2008.  
 
Interim Bank Loans Payable at June 30, 2008 were approximately $14.2 million.  The Company currently maintains an aggregate of $21 
million in lines of credit with three banks.  During 2007, the Company increased these lines because of expected increased construction 
spending and recently completed acquisitions.  The lines of credit have lives that range from 12 to 29 months, which expire throughout 2008 
and 2009.  We expect to renew the lines as they expire.  Interest expense charged on interim bank loans will fluctuate based on market interest 
rates.  
 
The Company offers a dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP) to all shareholders, whereby shareholders can opt to have dividends directly 
reinvested into additional shares of the Company.  
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During the six months ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, the shareholders reinvested $484,000 and $496,000, respectively, as part of the DRIP.  
 
From 1999 through 2003, the Company issued stock options to certain employees of the Company.  No stock options have been issued by the 
Company since 2003.  During the six months ended June 30, 2008, 6,059 options were exercised resulting in approximately $90,000 in 
proceeds to the Company.  No stock options were exercised in the six months ended June 30, 2007.  
 
Results of Operations  
 
Three Months Ended June 30  
Net Income for the three months ended June 30, 2008 increased from that of the prior year by $1,089,000, which increased earnings per basic 
and diluted average common share by $0.13, to $0.35.  
 
This increase in Net Income is broken down by business segment as follows:  
 

 
The increase in the Water Activity segment’s Net Income was primarily due to the net effects of variances listed below:  
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Business Segment    
June 30, 

2008      
June 30, 

2007      
Increase/

(Decrease)    
Water Activities    $ 2,747,000     $ 1,681,000     $ 1,066,000   
Real Estate Transactions      --      --      --  
Services and Rentals      204,000       181,000       23,000   
Total    $ 2,951,000     $ 1,862,000     $ 1,089,000   

-   An increase of approximately $1,574,000 in Operating Revenue primarily due to new rates approved by the DPUC that became effective 
on April 1, 2008 and the acquisition of Eastern in January 2008, partially off-set by a decrease in per-customer consumption.  The largest 
component of the increase in Operating Revenue was an increase of $268,000 in revenue from residential customers.  Additionally, the 
Company received approximately $144,000 in payments from the South Central Regional Water Authority.  In addition to these residential 
revenue increases, there were minor increases from commercial, industrial and public authority customers, due primarily to the rate 
increase effective April 1, 2008.  
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Six Months Ended June 30  
Net Income for the six months ended June 30, 2008 increased from that of the prior year by $1,319,000, which increased earnings per basic and 
diluted average common share by $0.15, to $0.55.  
This increase in Net Income is broken down by business segment as follows:  
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-   Operation and Maintenance expense increased by $350,000 primarily due to the following components:  

Expense Components    
June 30, 

2008      
June 30, 

2007      
Increase/

(Decrease)    
Labor    $ 3,058,000     $ 2,786,000     $ 272,000   
Customer      249,000       175,000       74,000   
Outside Services      327,000       256,000       71,000   
Investor Relations      205,000       134,000       71,000   
Utility costs      859,000       789,000       70,000   
Water treatment (including chemical costs)      453,000       406,000       47,000   
Subscriptions & dues      52,000       12,000       40,000   
Purchased water      281,000       452,000       (171,000 ) 
Employee benefit costs      1,043,000       1,241,000       (198,000 ) 
Other      1,496,000       1,422,000       74,000   
Total    $ 8,023,000     $ 7,673,000     $ 350,000   

-   Labor and employee benefit costs increased in 2008 by a net $74,000 due to an increase in employee levels due to the Eastern acquisition, 
regular wage increases effective as of April 1, 2008 and higher medical costs associated with the Company’s health and welfare plan, 
partially off-set by pension, post-retirement medical and other benefit cost decreases.  Customer costs increased over the prior year period 
primarily due to an increase in uncollectible accounts.  Outside services have increased primarily due to audit and information technology 
consulting fees, partially off-set by lower legal costs.  The Company saw an increase in investor relations costs primarily due to the timing 
of the distribution of the 2007 annual report when compared to the distribution of the 2006 annual report. Utility costs have increased 
despite the Company’s efforts to lock in lower negotiated rates from energy suppliers due to higher electric costs in the state.  The decrease 
in purchased water costs stemmed from a negotiated reduction in the Company’s purchased water rate from a neighboring water utility.  

-   An increase in operating income tax expense of $200,000 primarily due to higher pretax income partially off-set by a lower effective 
income tax rate.  This lower rate is due primarily to the effect of the planned pension contribution in 2008 exceeding the expected SFAS 87 
pension expense.  

Business Segment    
June 30, 

2008      
June 30, 

2007      
Increase/

(Decrease)    
Water Activities    $ 4,262,000     $ 2,973,000     $ 1,289,000   
Real Estate Transactions      --      41,000       (41,000 ) 
Services and Rentals      394,000       323,000       71,000   
Total    $ 4,656,000     $ 3,337,000     $ 1,319,000   

- 21 - 



 
The increase in the Water Activity segment’s Net Income was primarily due to the net effects of variances listed below:  
 

 

 

 

 

 
Commitments and Contingencies  
 
There were no material changes under this subheading to any of the other items previously disclosed by the Company in its Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2007.  
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-   An increase of approximately $1,981,000 in Operating Revenue primarily due to the acquisition of Eastern in January 2008 and new rates 
approved by the DPUC that became effective on April 1, 2008, partially off-set by a decrease in per-customer consumption.  The largest 
component of the increase in Operating Revenue was an increase of $450,000 in revenue from residential customers.  Additionally, the 
Company received approximately $250,000 in payments from the South Central Regional Water Authority.  In addition to these residential 
revenue increases, there were minor increases from commercial, industrial and public authority customers, due primarily to the rate 
increase effective April1, 2008.  

-   Operation and Maintenance expense increased by $394,000 primarily due to the following components:  

Expense Components    
June 30, 

2008      
June 30, 

2007      
Increase/

(Decrease)    
Labor    $ 5,813,000     $ 5,396,000     $ 417,000   
Customer      467,000       307,000       160,000   
Outside services      652,000       577,000       75,000   
Water treatment (including chemical costs)      855,000       784,000       71,000   
Utility costs      1,717,000       1,676,000       41,000   
Maintenance      747,000       782,000       (35,000 ) 
Employee benefit costs      2,353,000       2,403,000       (50,000 ) 
Purchased water      303,000       605,000       (302,000 ) 
Other      2,314,000       2,297,000       17,000   
Total    $ 15,221,000     $ 14,827,000     $ 394,000   

-   Labor and employee benefit costs increased in 2008 by a net $367,000 due to an increase in employee levels due to the Eastern acquisition, 
regular wage increases effective as of April 1, 2008 and higher medical costs associated with the Company’s health and welfare 
plan.  These increases in Labor and employee benefit costs were partially off-set due to reduced pension costs and post-retirement medical 
costs.  Customer costs increased over the prior year primarily due to an increase in uncollectible accounts.  Outside services have increased 
primarily due to audit and information technology consulting fees, partially off-set by lower legal costs.  The decrease in purchased water 
costs stemmed from a negotiated reduction in the Company’s purchased water rate from a neighboring water utility.  

-   An increase in operating income tax expense of $144,000 primarily due to higher pretax income partially off-set by a lower effective 
income tax rate.  This lower rate is due primarily to the effect of the planned pension contribution in 2008 exceeding the expected SFAS 87 
pension expense.  
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19 Perry Street Litigation  
Connecticut Water’s Unionville division has for many years operated a well field located at 19 Perry Street, Farmington, Connecticut, pursuant 
to a 99-year lease entered into in 1975 with the property owner.  This well field provides approximately half of the daily water supply 
requirements to the customers of the Unionville division.  In 2004, the original property owner ceased business operations.  The property is 
now owned by 19 Perry Street, LLC, which obtained the property through a foreclosure proceeding.  In June 2007, the new owner commenced 
a lawsuit in Hartford Superior Court (Housing Section), asserting that Connecticut Water is in unlawful possession of the property under 
several theories, including that the lease is invalid and that Connecticut Water has failed to pay rent when due.  A trial before a judge was held 
in November 2007, and a decision was issued on April 30, 2008.  In its decision, the Court ruled that the lease is valid.  However, in deciding 
the parties’ contentions regarding the proper form and amount of rental payments due, the Court ruled that Connecticut Water was in breach of 
its obligation to pay rent on the property and therefore entered an order of eviction.  
 
On May 5, 2008, Connecticut Water filed a timely appeal of the decision in the Connecticut Appellate Court.  This appeal stays the eviction 
order until the Appellate Court rules on Connecticut Water’s claims that the trial court erred.  At this time, the outcome of the appeal is 
uncertain.  On August 5, 2008, Connecticut Water was served with a related lawsuit in which 19 Perry Street, LLC seeks the payment of back 
rent with respect to the property.  The Company intends  to maintain its use of the property to provide water to customers of its Unionville 
division while the appeal is pending.  In addition, Connecticut Water will consider all other options with respect to its well field use of the 
property, including (i) negotiations with the property owner for a new lease agreement, (ii) the outright purchase of the property or (iii) the 
exercise of Connecticut Water’s right to take the property by initiating eminent domain proceedings under applicable law.  
 
Forward-Looking Information  
 
This report, including management’s discussion and analysis, contains certain forward-looking statements regarding the Company’s results of 
operations and financial position.  These forward-looking statements are based on current information and expectations, and are subject to risks 
and uncertainties, which could cause the Company’s actual results to differ materially from expected results.  
 
Regulated water companies, including The Connecticut Water Company, are subject to various federal and state regulatory agencies 
concerning water quality and environmental standards.  Generally, the water industry is materially dependent on the adequacy of approved 
rates to allow for a fair rate of return on the investment in utility plant.  The ability to maintain our operating costs at the lowest possible level, 
while providing good quality water service, is beneficial to customers and stockholders.  Profitability is also dependent on the timeliness of rate 
relief to be sought from, and granted by, the DPUC, when necessary, and numerous factors over which we have little or no control, such as the 
quantity of rainfall and temperature, customer demand and related conservation efforts, financing costs, energy rates, tax rates, and stock 
market trends which may affect the return earned on pension assets, compliance with environmental and water quality regulations and the 
outcome of litigation matters, including the Unionville division well field dispute.  From time to time, the Company may acquire other 
regulated and/or unregulated water companies.  Profitability on these acquisitions is often dependent on the successful integration of these 
companies, including the January 2008 acquisition of Eastern Connecticut Regional Water Company, Inc. and Birmingham H20 Services 
Inc.  The profitability of our other revenue sources is subject to the amount of land we have available for sale and/or donation, the demand for 
the land, the continuation of the current state tax benefits relating to the donation of land for open space purposes, regulatory approval of land 
dispositions, the demand for telecommunications antenna site leases, and the successful extensions and expansion of our service contract 
work.  We undertake no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or 
otherwise.  
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Part I, Item 3 :  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk  
 
The primary market risk faced by the Company is interest rate risk.  The Company has exposure to derivative financial instruments through an 
interest rate swap agreement.  The Company has no other financial instruments with significant credit risk or off-balance sheet risks and is not 
subject, in any material respect, to any currency or other commodity risk.  
 
The Company is subject to the risk of fluctuating interest rates in the normal course of business.  The Company’s exposure to interest 
fluctuations is managed at the Company and subsidiary operations levels through the use of a combination of fixed rate long-term debt, 
variable long-term debt and short-term variable borrowings under financing arrangements entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries and 
its use of the interest rate swap agreement discussed below.  The Company has $21.0 million of variable rate lines of credit with three banks, 
under which the interim bank loans payable at June 30, 2008 were approximately $14.2 million.  
 
During March 2004, The Connecticut Water Company entered into a five-year interest rate swap transaction in connection with the refunding 
of its First Mortgage Bonds (Series V).  The swap agreement provides for The Connecticut Water Company’s exchange of floating rate interest 
payment obligations for fixed rate interest payment obligations on a notional principal amount of $12.5 million.  The purpose of the interest 
rate swap is to manage the Company’s exposure to fluctuations in prevailing interest rates.  The Company does not enter into derivative 
financial contracts for trading or speculative purposes and does not use leveraged instruments.  
 
As of June 30, 2008, the Company had $22.05 million of variable-rate debt outstanding, of which $12.5 million have been fixed by operation 
of the interest rate swap described above.  Holding other variables constant, including levels of indebtedness, a one-percentage point change in 
interest rates would impact pre-tax earnings by approximately $0.1 million.  
 
Although there can be no assurances that interest rates will not significantly change during the next twelve months, management does not 
believe that changes in interest rates will have a material effect on income or cash flow.  
 
Part I, Item 4 :  Controls and Procedures  
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  
 
As of the end of the period covered by this report, management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15
(e)).  Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls 
and procedures were effective, in all material respects, to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports the Company files and 
submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is (i) recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in 
the SEC’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.  
 

Table of Contents 
CONNECTICUT WATER SERVICE, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

- 24 - 



 
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting  
 
There were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2008 that 
have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  
 
Because of its inherent limitation, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.  Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.  
 
Part II, Item 1 :  Legal Proceedings  
 
We are involved in various legal proceedings from time to time.  Although the results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, 
there are no pending legal proceedings to which we or any of our subsidiaries are a party or to which any of our properties is the subject that 
presents a reasonable likelihood of a material adverse impact on the Company.  Certain other legal proceedings that relate to specific segments 
of the Company’s business are discussed in Item 2, Part I, of this Form 10-Q under the heading “Commitments and Contingencies”.  
 
Part II, Item 1A : Risk Factors  
 
Information regarding risk factors appeared in Item 1A of Part I of our Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2007.  There have been no material changes to our risk factors from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2007.  
 
Part II, Item 2 : Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds  
 
No stock repurchases were made during the quarter ended June 30, 2008.  
 
Part II, Item 4 : Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  
 
On May 15, 2008, at its annual meeting, the stockholders of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. elected the following directors to serve three-year 
terms expiring at the annual meeting to be held in 2011 by the following votes:  
 

 
Directors whose term of office continues until the 2009 annual meeting are Lisa J. Thibdaue, Carol P. Wallace, and Donald B. Wilbur.  
 
Directors whose term of office continues until the 2010 annual meeting are Heather Hunt, Arthur C. Reeds, and Eric W. Thornburg.  
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The appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers, LLP, as the independent registered public accounting firm for the Company for the fiscal year 
ending December 31, 2008 was ratified by the stockholders by the following vote:  
 

 
Part II, Item 6 : Exhibits  
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Exhibit  
Number  

  Description  

      
3.1    Certificate of Incorporation of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. amended and restated as of April, 1998.  (Exhibit 3.1 to Form 

10-K for the year ended 12/31/98).  
      
3.2    By Laws, as amended, of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. as amended and restated as of August 12, 1999. (Exhibit 3.2 to 

Form 10-K for the year ended 12/31/99).  
      
3.3    Certification of Incorporation of The Connecticut Water Company effective April, 1998.  (Exhibit 3.3 to Form 10-K for the 

year ended 12/31/98).  
      
3.4    Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. dated August 6, 2001 

(Exhibit 3.4 to Form 10-K for the year ended 12/31/01).  
      
3.5    Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. dated 

April 23, 2004.  (Exhibit 3.5 to Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2003).  
      
10.1*    Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 21, 2008, between The Connecticut Water Company, Ellington Acres Company, and 

the shareholders of EAC.  
      
31.1*    Rule 13a-14 Certification of Eric W. Thornburg, Chief Executive Officer.  
      
31.2*    Rule 13a-14 Certification of David C. Benoit, Chief Financial Officer.  
      
32*    Certification of Eric W. Thornburg, Chief Executive Officer, and David C. Benoit, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 

Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  
      
* filed herewith  
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SIGNATURES  

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
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Date: August 8, 2008  By:   /s/ Nicholas A. Rinaldi  
   
        Nicholas A. Rinaldi  
        Controller  
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STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT  

 
 

This STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) dated this 21 st day of July, 2008, by and among The Connecticut Water 
Company, a Connecticut corporation (the “Buyer”), Ellington Acres Company, a Connecticut corporation (“EAC”), and the shareholders of 
EAC listed on Appendix A attached hereto (the “Shareholders”)  
 

W I T N E S S E T H :  
 

WHEREAS, EAC owns and operates a water system located in the Town of Ellington, Connecticut and the Town of Somers, 
Connecticut (the “System”), and is subject to the jurisdiction of the Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control (“DPUC”), the 
Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection (“DEP”) and the Connecticut Department of Public Health (“DPH”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the Shareholders listed on Appendix A attached hereto are the owners of an aggregate of 200 shares (the “Shares”) of 
EAC’s common stock, no par value per share (the “EAC Common Stock”), the Shares being 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of 
capital stock of EAC; and  
 

WHEREAS, Buyer desires to purchase from the Shareholders, and the Shareholders desire to sell to Buyer, all of the Shares for the 
consideration and upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth; and  
 

WHEREAS,  it is the intention of the parties hereto that, upon the consummation of the purchase and sale of the Shares pursuant to 
this Agreement, Buyer will own all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of EAC; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:  
 
1.           THE PURCHASE AND SALE TRANSACTION.  
 

1.1.            Purchase and Sale of Shares .  Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and in reliance on the representations, 
warranties, covenants and agreements contained herein, on the Closing Date (as hereinafter defined), the Shareholders shall sell, convey, 
assign, transfer and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer shall purchase and acquire from the Shareholders, in exchange for the Purchase Price (as 
hereinafter defined), the Shares.  The Shares shall be free and clear of all liens, claims, options, charges or encumbrances of any nature 
whatsoever, except for any liens, claims, options, charges or encumbrances disclosed in this Agreement or the Disclosure Schedules attached 
hereto.  
 

1.2.               Purchase Price .  (a)                                           In consideration of the sale, assignment and delivery of the Shares by 
the Shareholders to Buyer, Buyer shall pay to the Shareholders at the Closing the aggregate sum of one million, four hundred and ninety-five 
thousand dollars ($1,495,000) (the “Purchase Price”), or $7,475 for each issued and outstanding share of EAC Common Stock.  The Purchase 
Price shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with wire transfer instructions to be provided by EAC at least 
two (2) business days prior to the Closing Date.  
 

1.3.            Due Diligence .  
 

(a)           Buyer acknowledges that EAC and the Shareholders have previously delivered to Buyer certain documents and information 
in response to Buyer’s due diligence request list dated May 29, 2008.  
 

(b)           Buyer shall have the period from the date hereof and ending at 5:00 p.m. on the date that is sixty (60) days from the date 
hereof (the “Inspection Period”) to conduct such due diligence with respect to EAC, the Property, the Assets and the System (as each such term 
is hereinafter defined), including without limitation such investigation of any matters disclosed or not disclosed herein or in any Disclosure 
Schedule hereto as Buyer, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems appropriate.  
 

(c)   During the Inspection Period, Buyer, through its authorized agents or representatives, shall be entitled, upon reasonable 
advance notice to EAC, to enter upon the Property during normal business hours, and shall have the right to make such reasonable 
investigations and conduct such reasonable tests, including engineering studies, soil tests, and environmental studies (including an 
environmental site assessment of EAC’s Property), as Buyer deems necessary or advisable (the “Testing Rights”), subject to the following 
limitations: (i) Buyer shall give EAC written or telephonic notice at least one (1) business day before conducting any inspections on the 
Property, and a representative of EAC shall have the right to be present when Buyer or its agents or representatives conducts its or their 
investigations on the Property; (ii) neither Buyer nor its representatives shall materially interfere with the use, occupancy or enjoyment of the 
Property by EAC; (iii) neither Buyer nor its agents or representatives shall damage the Property or any portion thereof, except for any 
immaterial damage caused by invasive tests, all of which shall promptly be repaired by Buyer; and (iv) Buyer shall indemnify, hold harmless 
and defend EAC  against all costs (including reasonable attorneys' fees) and direct damages caused by the activities of Buyer or its agents or 
representatives under this Section 1.3(c ); provided, however , that such indemnity shall not include any costs or damages caused by (X) the 
acts of EAC or its agents or representatives or (Y) any pre-existing condition of the Property, except to the extent that such pre-existing 
condition is materially adversely affected by actions of Buyer or its agents or representatives during the Inspection Period. The foregoing 
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indemnification obligation shall survive the termination of this Agreement for a period of two (2) years.  
 

(d)           (i)           At any time before the end of the Inspection Period, Buyer may, in its discretion, give one written notice thereof 
delivered prior to the termination of the Inspection Period to EAC setting forth any objections (the “Buyer Objections”) that Buyer has 
resulting from its due diligence investigation.  EAC and the Shareholders shall have the option to cure the Buyer Objections within the thirty 
(30) day period after the date of such notice (the “Cure Period”) and shall within 10 days of receipt of the Buyer Objections give Buyer a 
written response of either their intention to cure the Buyer Objections or their intention not to cure or inability to cure the Buyer Objections (in 
either case, the “EAC Response”).  
 

(ii)           If the EAC Response indicates that EAC and the Shareholders elect not to cure the Buyer Objections or EAC and the 
Shareholders attempt, but are unable, to cure the Buyer Objections prior to the end of the Cure Period, Buyer shall have the option (in its sole, 
reasonable discretion) to be exercised within 10 days of the earlier of the date of Buyer’s receipt of the EAC Response or the end of the Cure 
Period of either (X) accepting the situation as it then is for all purposes under this Agreement, waiving any additional rights Buyer may have 
arising from such Buyer Objections, and proceeding to carry out the purchase and sale transaction contemplated herein, or (Y) terminating this 
Agreement, whereupon this Agreement shall terminate and Buyer, EAC and the Shareholders shall have no further obligations or liabilities 
hereunder other than Buyer’s indemnity obligation under Section 1.3(c) ; provided however , that if Buyer elects to terminate this Agreement 
pursuant to this Section 1.3(d)(ii) , then Buyer shall reimburse the Shareholders and EAC for legal and accounting fees in an amount not to 
exceed $60,000, provided that the Shareholders submit copies to Buyer of documents establishing the amount of such legal and accounting 
fees.  
 

(iii)           If Buyer does not give EAC a written notice setting forth any Buyer Objections during the Inspection Period or Buyer 
accepts the EAC Response and elects to proceed to carry out the purchase and sale transaction contemplated herein (as provided in Section 1.3
(d)(ii)(X) above), this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect, except that Buyer's rights pursuant to this Section 1.3 shall terminate 
upon the date which is the earlier of Buyer’s election to proceed under Section 1.3(d)(ii)(X) above or the end of the Inspection Period.  
 

1.4.            Closing Time and Place .  The closing of the purchase and sale transaction provided for in this Agreement (the “Closing”) 
shall take place at the offices of Murtha Cullina LLP, CityPlace I, 185 Asylum Street, Hartford, Connecticut, at 10:00 A.M. on a date mutually 
agreed to by the parties promptly following the receipt of DPUC approval as described in Section 6.2 hereof, or on such other date or at such 
other place as the parties may mutually agree upon (the “Closing Date”).  All proceedings to be taken and all documents to be executed and 
delivered by the parties at the Closing shall be deemed to have been taken and executed simultaneously and no proceedings shall be deemed 
taken or any documents executed or delivered until all have been taken, executed and delivered.  
 

1.5.            Shareholders’  Obligations .  
 

(a)  At least twenty (20) days prior to the Closing Date, EAC shall provide to the Buyer proper legal descriptions and surveys (to the 
extent such surveys presently exist) for the Property (as hereinafter defined).  
 

(b)           At the Closing, EAC and the Shareholders shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Buyer the following:  
 

(i)           certificates representing the Shares, which certificates shall be duly endorsed in blank or, in lieu thereof, shall have 
affixed thereto stock powers executed in blank, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer;  

 
(ii)           a certificate executed by the Secretary of EAC dated as of the Closing Date certifying that the copies of EAC’s 

Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws previously provided to the Buyer pursuant to Section 2.8 hereof are true, complete and 
correct, have not been amended since the date of delivery to the Buyer and are in full force and effect as of the Closing Date;  

 
(iii)           a Certificate from the Secretary of the State of the State of Connecticut confirming EAC’s continuing legal 

existence and evidencing that EAC is current in its required filings with that office; and  
 

(iv)           the written resignation of each of EAC’s officers and directors.  
 

1.6.            Further Assurances .  The Shareholders shall, at any time and from time to time after the Closing, upon request of the 
Buyer, do, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or will cause to be done, executed, acknowledged and delivered, all such reasonable further acts, 
deeds, assignments, transfers, conveyances, powers of attorney, and assurances as may be required for the better assigning, transferring, 
granting, conveying, assuring and confirming to the Buyer, or to its successors and assigns, or for aiding and assisting in collecting and 
reducing to possession of, any or all of the Shares.  
 

1.7.            Buyer’s Obligations .   At the Closing, the Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered in accordance with this Agreement, 
the Purchase Price by wire transfer of immediately available funds in accordance with Section 1.2 above.  
 

 
Each of the Shareholders and EAC, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Buyer that, except as set forth in the Disclosure 

Schedule, the statements contained in this Section 2 are true and correct as of the date of this Agreement, except to the extent that such 
representations and warranties are specifically made as of a particular date (in which case, such representation and warranty shall be true and 
correct as of such date).  The Disclosure Schedule shall be arranged in sections and subsections corresponding to the numbered and lettered 
sections and subsections contained in this Section 2 (it being understood that any matter disclosed in any section of the Disclosure Schedule 
will be deemed to be disclosed in any other Section thereof).  

2.   REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE SHAREHOLDERS AND EAC  



   
2.1            EAC Common Stock .  Each Shareholder is the record and beneficial shareholder of the Shares owned by such Shareholder 

and has good and valid title to the Shares which are to be transferred to the Buyer by such Shareholder pursuant to this Agreement, free and 
clear of any and all covenants, conditions, restrictions, voting trust arrangements, liens, charges, encumbrances, options and adverse claims or 
rights whatsoever.  The authorized capital stock of EAC consists of 5,000 shares of EAC Common Stock.  There are presently two hundred 
(200) shares of EAC Common Stock issued and outstanding.   Appendix A sets forth a true and correct description of all Shares owned by each 
Shareholder.  All of the issued and outstanding Shares (i) are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, (ii) were not issued 
in violation of any preemptive or other rights of any person to acquire the securities of EAC and (iii) were issued in compliance with all 
applicable federal and state securities laws.  Except for this Agreement, there are no outstanding options, convertible securities, rights 
(preemptive or other), warrants, calls or agreements relating to any capital stock of EAC.  
   

2.2            Authority .  Each Shareholder has the full right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to transfer, convey 
and sell to the Buyer at the Closing the Shares to be sold by such Shareholder hereunder.  This Agreement has been duly and validly executed 
and delivered by each Shareholder and constitutes a valid and binding obligation of each Shareholder, enforceable against each Shareholder in 
accordance with its terms,   subject as to enforcement, (a) to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar laws 
affecting creditors’ rights generally and (b) to general equitable principles.  
   

2.3            Regulatory Approvals; No Brokers .  Except as set forth on Schedule 2.3 , no Shareholder is a party to, subject to or bound 
by any agreement or any judgment, order, writ, prohibition, injunction or decree of any court or other governmental body which would prevent 
the execution or delivery of this Agreement by any such Shareholder or the transfer, conveyance and sale of the Shares to be sold by any such 
Shareholder to the Buyer pursuant to the terms hereof.  All negotiations relative to this Agreement have been carried on by EAC and the 
Shareholders directly with the Buyer, without the intervention of any person as a result of any act of EAC or the Shareholders in such manner 
as to give rise to any valid liability or obligation to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the purchase and 
sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement.  
   

2.4.            Organization and Status of EAC; Authority of EAC .  EAC is a public service company as defined in Section 16-1 of the 
Connecticut General Statutes and sells and distributes water in the Town of Ellington and the Town of Somers (collectively, the 
“Towns”).  EAC is a corporation legally existing under the laws of Connecticut, and has all other requisite corporate power and authority and 
all necessary licenses and permits to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, except to the extent that EAC’s failure to have such 
licenses or permits has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material Adverse Effect (as hereinafter defined). 
EAC’s rates and charges are and have been those shown on schedules filed with and approved by the DPUC.  EAC has all requisite corporate 
authority and capacity to enter into this Agreement and all other documents to be entered into by EAC in connection with the consummation of 
the transactions contemplated hereby.  This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by EAC and constitutes a valid and 
binding obligation of EAC, enforceable against EAC in accordance with its terms , subject as to enforcement, (a) to applicable bankruptcy, 
insolvency, moratorium, reorganization or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and (b) to general equitable principles .  EAC is not 
under receivership, impediment or prohibition imposed by any court, regulatory commission, board, administrative body, arbitration board or 
tribunal or other federal, state or municipal government instrumentality (any such entity being referred to herein as a “Governmental Body”) 
that would render EAC unable to enter into and carry out the provisions of this Agreement.   As used in this Agreement, the term “ EAC 
Material Adverse Effect ” shall mean and include any effect, event, development or change which, individually or together with any other 
effects, events, developments or changes, either: (i) has a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition, assets and liabilities , 
prospects or results of operations of EAC taken as a whole, other than any effect, event, development or change resulting from (A) changes in 
applicable law or generally accepted accounting principles in the United States ( “ GAAP ” ) or the enforcement or interpretation thereof, (B) 
any action taken by the parties that is expressly permitted by the terms of this Agreement or to which Buyer has consented in writing, (C) 
changes generally affecting the water utility industry (provided, in the cases of clauses (A) or (C), such effects, events, developments or 
changes do not disproportionately adversely affect EAC relative to other similarly - situated businesses, in which case such disproportionate 
effects, events, developments or changes may be taken into account in determining whether or not an EAC Material Adverse Effect has 
occurred) ; or (ii) that prevents or materially adversely affects the ability of the Shareholders to consummate the purchase and sale transaction 
within the time periods contemplated by this Agreement .  
   

2.5            No Subsidiaries .  EAC has never had any subsidiaries and does not otherwise own or control, directly or indirectly, or have 
any direct or indirect equity interest in, any domestic or foreign corporation, partnership, trust, joint venture, limited liability company or other 
business association or entity.  
 

2.6            Title to Properties and Assets; Use of Water .  Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6 ,   EAC has good and valid title to (i) all 
Assets (as hereinafter defined) of EAC including, without limitation, the System, the wells, transmission and distribution mains, tanks and 
standpipes, pumps and pumping stations, hydrants, meters and personal property described in EAC’s Annual Report to the DPUC for the year 
ended December 31, 2007, and those acquired subsequent to December 31, 2007, and all of EAC’s right, title and interest in and to the curb 
stops, service connections (to the extent curb stops and service connections are purported to be owned by EAC) and easements, rights of way 
and leases, and any and all franchise rights, copies of which have been previously provided to the Buyer, and (ii) all documents, reports, maps 
and customer records pertaining to the System including, but not limited to, all engineering, laboratory and operating reports, customer service 
records including meter readings and fixture surveys, financial books and records, property maps, gate drawings, main laying specifications 
and tap and service cards, and EAC’s cash and bank deposits, except to the extent that EAC’s failure to have such title has not had, and would 
not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material Adverse Effect. EAC has good and marketable title in fee simple to all of its real property 
(“Property”), except where the failure of EAC to have such title has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material 
Adverse Effect. EAC acknowledges and agrees that it must satisfy and discharge all monetary liens and encumbrances affecting the Property at 
Closing, except any statutory liens for non-delinquent real property taxes .   All assets of EAC other than the Property (whether personal or 
mixed, tangible and intangible), rights and privileges (whether now and hereafter owned or leased by EAC) are referred to in this Agreement as 
the “Assets” , and are free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, except for any liens or encumbrances which do not, or would not reasonably 



be expected to, adversely affect the ability of EAC to operate the System for water utility purposes in the ordinary course of business.  Other 
than the Assets owned or leased by EAC, no other assets are used in the conduct and operation of the System and the distribution and delivery 
of water to each of EAC’s water customers.  EAC has the right to use the water it is now using in the manner in which it is using such 
water.  Except as set forth on Schedule 2.6 , all water supply sources, pump stations and storage facilities for the System are located on 
Property owned by EAC in fee simple.  All mains and service connections are located on Property owned by EAC in fee simple, within the 
public rights-of-way, or within permanent easements of record in favor of EAC, except for any deficiencies of title which do not, or would not 
reasonably be expected to, adversely affect the ability of EAC to operate the System for water utility purposes in the ordinary course of 
business.  
 

2.7            Use of Property .  To the knowledge of EAC and the Shareholders, either (a) the present use of the Property conforms in all 
material respects to all applicable zoning, building, building line and similar restrictions, is a permitted “non-conforming use” as defined in 
such zoning, inland wetland, building, building line or similar restrictions or (b) EAC has obtained the necessary permits, variances or relief 
therefore, except where the lack of such permits, variances or relief do not, or would not reasonably be expected to, adversely affect the ability 
of EAC to operate the System for water utility purposes in the ordinary course of business.  All of the Property is located in the Towns, except 
for EAC’s main office located in Enfield, Connecticut.  
 

2.8            Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws .  The copies previously delivered to the Buyer of EAC’s Certificate of Incorporation 
and By-Laws are true and complete copies of said documents, and said Certificate and By-Laws are in full force and effect and include any and 
all amendments thereto.  
 

2.9            Absence of Defaults .  Except as set forth on Schedule 2.9 , the execution and delivery of this Agreement does not and the 
consummation of the purchase and sale transaction contemplated hereby will not (a) violate any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or 
Bylaws of EAC; (b) violate, conflict with or result in the breach or termination of, or constitute a default under the terms of, any agreement or 
instrument to which any of the Shareholders or EAC is a party or by which EAC or any of EAC’s Assets or Property may be bound; (c) result 
in the creation of any material lien, charge or encumbrance upon any of EAC’s Assets or Property pursuant to the terms of any agreement or 
instrument; (d) violate any judgment, order, injunction, decree, license, permit, award, rule or regulation against, or binding upon, EAC or upon 
any of the Assets or Property; or (e) constitute a material violation by EAC of any material law or regulation of any jurisdiction as such law or 
regulation relates to EAC, the System or any of the Assets or Property except, in the case of clauses (b), (d) and (e), where such violation 
would not reasonably be expected to have an EAC Material Adverse Effect.  EAC has obtained or will obtain prior to Closing all material 
consents, releases or waivers from Governmental Bodies and third parties which may be necessary to prevent the execution of this Agreement 
or the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein from resulting in any violation, breach, default or other event referred to in this 
Agreement, it being understood that it is the joint responsibility of the Buyer and EAC to obtain DPUC approval (as described in Section 6.2 
hereof) of the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement.  
 

2.10            Litigation, Orders, Etc .  Except as set forth on Schedule 2.10 , there are no actions, suits, proceedings or governmental 
investigations pending, or insofar as is known to EAC or the Shareholders, in prospect or threatened, against or relating to EAC or the purchase 
and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement in or before any Governmental Body.  The System, and EAC in its capacity as owner or 
operator of the System, is not subject to or in violation of any judgment, order, decree, injunction or award of any Governmental Body entered 
in any proceeding to which it was a party or of which EAC or the Shareholders had knowledge, including, without limitation, decisions, letter 
requests or proceedings of the DPUC, the DPH, the DEP, the Internal Revenue Service and the Towns, where such judgment, order, decree, 
injunction or award or said violation would reasonably be expected to have an EAC Material Adverse Effect.  No proceedings are pending or, 
to the knowledge of EAC or the Shareholders, threatened against the rates now being charged by EAC.  
 

2.11            Contracts .   Schedule 2.11 sets forth a description of certain of EAC’s water main extension agreements and is true, 
complete and correct in all material respects.  All contracts, agreements and leases to which EAC is a party involving the payment of $10,000 
or more by or to EAC in any one fiscal year or that are otherwise material to the business of EAC are valid, binding and in full force and effect 
and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, and, to the knowledge of EAC or the Shareholders, no other party to any such 
contract, agreement or lease has breached any provision of, or is in default under the terms of, any such contract, agreement or lease , except 
when such violation or breach has not had, or would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material Adverse Effect .   
 

2.12            Financial Statements; Annual Reports .  
   

(a)           EAC has heretofore delivered to the Buyer true, correct and complete copies of (X) EAC’s audited financial statements for 
the three (3) most recently completed fiscal years of EAC, which financial statements have been audited by an independent Certified Public 
Accountant in accordance with GAAP consistently applied throughout such periods and which have been prepared consistently with prior 
periods (in each case, except as may be described in the notes thereto) and (Y) the internally prepared unaudited, interim balance sheet and 
statement of profits and loss of EAC, each dated as of April 30, 2008 (which unaudited statements omit depreciation, accruals for taxes and 
rent expense for four months) (collectively, the “April 30 th Exceptions”).  Each financial statement described in this Section 2.12(a) is 
hereinafter referred to as a “Financial Statement” and are collectively referred to as the “EAC Financial Statements”.  
   

(b)           Each EAC Financial Statement fairly and accurately presents in all material respects the assets, liabilities, financial 
condition, revenues, expenses and results of the operations of EAC for the applicable period, subject in the case of the interim Financial 
Statements, to (i) the April 30 th Exceptions, (ii) normal recurring year-end adjustments (the effect of which will not, individually or in the 
aggregate, have an EAC Material Adverse Effect) and (iii) the absence of footnotes (that, if presented, would not differ materially from those 
included on EAC’s December 31, 2007 balance sheet).  Except for the April 30 th Exceptions, each EAC Financial Statement is true and correct 
in all material respects, contains no untrue statement of material fact and does not omit any material fact necessary to make such financial 
statement not misleading.  



   
(c)           No financial statements of any other person or entity are required by GAAP to be included in the EAC Financial Statements 

and EAC is not a guarantor, indemnitor, accommodation party or surety for the Slanetz Corporation or any other person, entity, liability or 
obligation.  
   

(d)           The annual reports filed with the DPUC by EAC with respect to EAC and the System from and after December 31, 2001 
(copies of which have been provided to Buyer) are true, correct and complete in all material respects and accurately represent in all material 
respects the financial condition and operations of EAC for the respective periods and dates covered by such reports.  
   

2.13            Absence of Adverse Change .  Since December 31, 2007, there has not been any material adverse change in the financial 
position, results of operations, assets, liabilities or business of EAC, taken as a whole.  
 

2.14            No Undisclosed Liabilities .  Except for the April 30 th Exceptions, EAC has no liabilities or obligations of any nature 
(whether known or unknown, or absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise), except for liabilities and obligations reflected or reserved against 
in the EAC Financial Statements and current liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since the respective dates of the EAC 
Financial Statements, except such liabilities or obligations which have not had, or would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material 
Adverse Effect.  
   

2.15            Compliance with Laws; No Environmental Hazards .  
 

(a)           Except as has not had, or would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material Adverse Effect, to the knowledge the 
Shareholders, the location and construction, occupancy, operation and use of all improvements attached to or placed, erected, constructed or 
developed as a portion of any of the Property (the “Improvements”) do not materially violate any applicable law, statute, ordinance, rule, 
regulation, order or determination of any Governmental Body, or any restrictive covenant or deed restriction affecting the Property including, 
without limitation, any applicable health, environmental, rates, utility, water quality, antitrust, hiring, wages, hours, collective bargaining, 
safety, price and wage controls, payment of withholding and social security taxes, zoning ordinances and building codes, flood and disaster 
laws, rules and regulations (hereinafter collectively called the “Applicable Laws”).   Schedule 2.15 contains a list of and copies of all material 
governmental licenses, permits, certifications and approvals of any governmental authority possessed by or granted to EAC (“Licenses”) and 
used or relied upon in the operation of EAC or the System.  To the best knowledge of the Shareholders, no material License used in or 
necessary for the operation of EAC, the Assets or the System will terminate prior to its stated expiration date or not be renewed in accordance 
with past practices of EAC or any relevant Governmental Body, and EAC is not in material violation of any term or condition of any License.  
 

(b)           Without in any way limiting the generality of Section 2.15(a) above, neither any of the Assets nor EAC are the subject of 
any pending or, to the best knowledge of EAC or the Shareholders, threatened investigation or inquiry by any Governmental Body, or are 
subject to any material remedial obligations under any Applicable Laws pertaining to health or the environment, including, without limitation, 
the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended (“CERCLA”), the Resource Conservation 
Recovery Act of 1987, as amended (“RCRA”), the Safe Drinking Water Act, as amended (“SDWA”), the Clean Water Act, as amended 
(“CWA”), the Toxic Substances Control Act (“TSCA”), the Connecticut Water Pollution Control Act, C.G.S. §§ 22a-416 et seq., or any other 
applicable provision of Title 22a of the Connecticut General Statutes (all collectively hereinafter referred to as “Applicable Environmental 
Laws”).  
 

(c)           To the knowledge of the Shareholders, EAC, taken as a whole, is in material compliance with Applicable Environmental 
Laws and is not required to obtain any permits, licenses or authorizations (other than the Licenses) to construct, occupy, operate or use any 
portion of the Property as it is now being used by reason of any material Applicable Environmental Laws.  
 

(d)           To the knowledge of the Shareholders, no prior use of any of the Property, by EAC or the prior owners of any of the 
Property, has occurred which violates any Applicable Environmental Laws in any material respect. EAC has not at any time, directly or 
indirectly “treated”, “disposed of”, “generated”, “stored” or “released” any “toxic or hazardous substances”, as each term is defined under the 
Applicable Environmental Laws, or arranged for such activities, in, on or under any of the Assets or any parcel of land, whether or not owned, 
occupied or leased by EAC in material violation of any Applicable Environmental Law, except to the extent customary and in the ordinary 
course of a water supply company’s business.  
 

(e)           To the knowledge of the Shareholders, there has been no litigation brought or threatened nor any settlement reached by or 
with any parties alleging the presence, disposal, release, or threatened release, of any toxic or hazardous substance or solid wastes from the use 
or operation of any of the Property, and none of the Property is on any federal or state “Superfund” list, or subject to any liens recorded or 
imposed pursuant to any federal or state “Superfund” laws.  
 

(f)           This Section 2.15 and Section 2.14 contain the only representations and warranties related to environmental matters 
contained in this Agreement.  
 

2.16            Insurance .  EAC maintains insurance in connection with the Assets and the System against hazards and risks and liability 
to persons and property to the extent and in the manner set forth on Schedule 2.16 .  Except for workers’ compensation insurance, no such 
insurance provides for a retroactive premium adjustment or other experienced-based liability on the part of EAC.  
 

2.17            Description and Condition of System .  EAC has provided to Buyer a map of EAC's System, which identifies all water 
mains used in the System, which description or map is true, complete and correct in all material respects.  The System was designed and 
installed in compliance with good waterworks engineering practice and the applicable rules and regulations of the DPUC, except where the 
failure to comply with the foregoing has not had, or would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material Adverse Effect.  The System, 



taken as a whole, has been adequately maintained and is in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear excepted, is fit for its 
intended purpose and conforms to all restrictive covenants, applicable laws, regulations and ordinances relating to its construction, use and 
operation, except where the failure to comply with the foregoing has not had, and would not reasonably be expected to have, an EAC Material 
Adverse Effect.  
 

2.18            Tax Matters .  
 

(a)           EAC has filed or will file on a timely basis all returns, declarations, reports, claims for refund, and information returns and 
statements related to Taxes, including any schedules or attachments thereto, and including any amendments (“Tax Returns”) required to be 
filed under applicable laws and regulations, and will file on a timely basis, all such Tax Returns required to be filed on or before the Closing 
Date.  EAC has paid or caused to be paid within the time and manner prescribed by law all Taxes due with respect to the taxable periods 
covered by such Tax Returns and all other Taxes otherwise due and payable (excluding any Taxes that EAC is contesting in good faith in 
appropriate proceedings which are described in Schedule 2.18 and for which adequate reserves have been specifically taken and made in 
EAC’s financial statements).  Any unpaid Taxes of EAC did not (i) as of December 31, 2007 exceed the accruals and reserves for Tax 
liabilities (rather than any accruals and reserves for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and tax income) set 
forth on EAC’s balance sheet (prepared in accordance with GAAP) for the year ended December 31, 2007, and (ii) exceed the accruals and 
reserves as adjusted for the passage of time through the Closing Date in accordance with the past custom and practice of EAC in filing its Tax 
Returns.  Since December 31, 2007, EAC has not incurred any liability for Taxes arising from extraordinary gains or losses, as that term is used 
in GAAP, outside the ordinary course of business.  No claim for assessment or collection of Taxes has been asserted against EAC, and EAC 
has not agreed to any extension of the period for the assessment or collection of Taxes.  For all purposes under this Agreement, the terms “Tax” 
or “Taxes” shall mean and include any federal, state, local or foreign income, gross receipt, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, 
occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar), unemployment, 
disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax 
of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty, or addition thereto, whether disputed or not.  
 

(b)           EAC has provided the Buyer with a copy of all federal income Tax Returns filed by EAC for the three (3) most recently 
completed taxable years, and a copy of EAC’s applicable Connecticut income Tax Returns for the three (3) most recently completed taxable 
years, along with sales Tax Returns filed by EAC with respect to the most recently completed calendar year, and the months during the present 
calendar year.  Each Tax Return fairly and accurately presents the assets, liabilities, financial condition, income, expenses and results of the 
operations of EAC for the applicable period.  
 

(c)           There are no claims, assessments, proceedings, audits or litigation pending against EAC for any alleged deficiency in Taxes 
and, to the knowledge of EAC and the Shareholders, there are no threatened claims, assessments, proceedings, audits or litigation for Taxes 
against EAC.   There are no liens or other encumbrances for Taxes (other than for current Taxes not yet due and payable) on EAC’s Assets or 
Property.  To the knowledge of EAC and the Shareholders, there is no basis for the assertion of any other claim relating or attributable to 
Taxes, which, if adversely determined, would result in any material lien or encumbrance on EAC’s Assets or Property, or would reasonably be 
expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, an EAC Material Adverse Effect.  
 

(d)           EAC has maintained complete and accurate records, including all applicable exemption, resale or other certificates, of (i) all 
sales to purchasers claiming to be exempt from sale and use Taxes based on the exempt status of the purchaser, and (ii) all other sales for which 
sales Tax or use Tax was not collected by EAC and as to which the seller is required to receive and retain resale certificates or other certificates 
relating to the exempt nature of the sale or use or non-applicability of the sale and use Taxes.  
 

(e)           To the best knowledge of the Shareholders, EAC has no liability under the escheat laws or any other laws of any jurisdiction 
relating to abandoned property.  
 

2.19            Employees .  EAC has no current full- or part-time employees and has never had any such employees. EAC has no 
liability to any director, officer, employee or to any Governmental Body or any other person for any damages, wages, bonus, salary, 
commission, deferred compensation, vacation pay, health or hospital insurance, claim for indemnification, workers’ compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance premium with respect to any employee, except for the last pay period or any portion thereof.  There are no unfair 
labor practices or discrimination or sexual harassment charges pending or, to the knowledge of EAC or the Shareholders, threatened with 
respect to EAC.  
 

2.20            Related Party Transactions . Except for ongoing transactions with the Slanetz Corporation in the ordinary course of 
business of EAC described on Schedule 2.20 , there are no existing transactions or agreements between EAC and any Shareholder, officer, 
director, or affiliate (or member of the immediate family of any of the foregoing) of EAC.  
 

2.21            Employee Benefit Plans .  EAC has never maintained any “employee pension benefit plan” or “employee welfare benefit 
plan” as those terms are defined in Section 3 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”).  No material liability under 
ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”) has been or, through the Closing Date will be, incurred with respect to any Plan or 
with respect to any “employee benefit plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) of any trade or business (whether or not 
incorporated) which is under common control, or a member of an affiliated service group, with EAC (within the meaning of Section 4001(b)(1) 
of ERISA or Section 414(b), (c) or (m) of the Code) which could result in a material lien or other claim upon any of the assets of EAC, and no 
such liability will be incurred as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  EAC is not or has not been since 1984 a party to 
any “multiemployer plan” (as such term is defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA).  Each EAC plan, program or arrangement that is subject to 
Section 409A of the Code is in material compliance with Section 409A of the Code, to the extent applicable, and has been operated in good 
faith compliance with said Section 409A since January 1, 2005.  
   



2.22            Corporate Records .  The stock transfer books delivered at the Closing, and the minutes of all EAC directors’ and 
shareholders’ meetings for the past five (5)   years heretofore made available to the Buyer, constitute all of the transfer books and minute books 
for such periods and are true, complete and accurate records in all material respects of all material proceedings of the shareholders and directors 
of EAC, and the issuance and record ownership of all shares of capital stock of EAC.  The accounting books and records of EAC for the past 
ten (10)   years are in all material respects true, correct and complete, and have been maintained in accordance with good business practices.  
 

2.23            Bank Accounts and/or Credit .   Schedule 2.23 sets forth a true, correct and complete list of all financial institutions in 
which an account is maintained by, or loans, lines of credit or other credit commitments have been secured by or for, EAC, together with the 
names of all persons authorized to draw thereon.  EAC does not have any loan or other agreements for the borrowing of money and none of the 
loans or lines of credit impose any prepayment restrictions.  There are no loans or other agreements which upon the Closing of the Merger as 
contemplated by this Agreement will accelerate to maturity, increase the rate or charges or otherwise change their terms or provisions.  
 

2.24            Disclosure .  No representations or warranties in this Section 2 or in any information, list, Disclosure Schedule or 
certificate furnished or to be furnished by or on behalf of EAC or the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement contains or will contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will omit a material fact necessary to make the statements contained herein or therein not 
misleading.  
 
            2.25             No Additional Representations .  Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither the Shareholders nor EAC, their 
representatives nor any other person has made any representation or warranty, expressed or implied, to Buyer as to any matter relating to EAC, 
including as to the accuracy or completeness of any information regarding EAC furnished or made available to Buyer and its representatives, 
including any information, documents or material made available to Buyer in any form in connection with the transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement.  
 
3.   REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE BUYER  
 

The Buyer hereby represents and warrants to EAC and the Shareholders as follows:  
 

3.1   Organization .  The Buyer is a corporation legally existing under the laws of the State of Connecticut, and has all requisite 
corporate authority and capacity to enter into and carry out the provisions of the Agreement, and is under no receivership, impediment or 
prohibition imposed by any Governmental Body that would render the Buyer unable to enter into and carry out the provisions of this 
Agreement.  
 

3.2   Authority Relative to this Agreement .  The execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Buyer has been duly and validly 
authorized by all requisite action on the part of the Buyer.  No approval or other action is required in order to authorize the Buyer to 
consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.  This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Buyer and 
constitutes a valid and legally binding obligation of the Buyer, enforceable in accordance with its terms.  
 

3.3   Absence of Defaults .  The execution and delivery of this Agreement does not and the consummation of the transactions 
contemplated hereby will not (a) violate any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws of the Buyer; (b) violate, conflict with or 
result in the breach or termination of, or constitute a default under the terms of, any agreement or instrument to which the Buyer is a party or by 
which it or any of its assets may be bound; (c) violate any judgment, order, injunction, decree, license, permit, award, rule or regulation against, 
or binding upon, the Buyer; or (d) constitute a violation by the Buyer of any law or regulation of any jurisdiction as such law or regulation 
relates to the Buyer.  
 

3.4   Investment .  Buyer is acquiring the Shares for investment purposes only and not with a view to any public distribution thereof, 
and Buyer represents that it will not offer to sell or otherwise dispose of the Shares so acquired by it in violation of any applicable law.  Buyer 
acknowledges that the Shares have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and that the Shares may not be sold, 
transferred or offered for sale without registration under such act or an exemption therefrom.  Buyer is able to bear the economic risk of 
holding the Shares for an indefinite period and has knowledge and experience in financial and business matters such that it is capable of 
evaluating the risks of investment in the Shares.  
 

3.5   Due Diligence Review .  In entering into this Agreement, Buyer has not been induced by, or relied upon, any representations, 
warranties or statements by EAC or the Shareholders not set forth herein or in the Disclosure Schedules attached hereto, whether or not such 
representations, warranties or statements have actually been made, in writing or orally, and Buyer acknowledges that it has made its own 
investigation of EAC and the Shareholders prior to the execution of this Agreement and has not been induced by or relied upon any 
representations, warranties or statements as to the advisability of entering this Agreement other than the representations, warranties and 
statements set forth herein or in the Disclosure Schedules.  
 
4.   CONDUCT OF THE PARTIES PENDING THE CLOSING DATE AND   

AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES  
 

4.1   Approvals and Consents .  EAC, the Shareholders and Buyer will use commercially reasonable efforts to secure the approval of 
the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement by all parties whose consent is required by law or under the terms of any 
indenture, contract or agreement to which EAC or Buyer is a party, including, but not limited to, approval by the DPUC.  
 

4.2   Conduct of EAC’s Business .  
 

(a)           Until the Closing Date, the Shareholders and EAC will conduct the business of and affairs of EAC only in the ordinary 



course and so that the representations and warranties contained in Section 2 hereof will be true and correct in all material respects at and as of 
the Closing Date (except as to representations that refer to a specified earlier date), except for changes specifically permitted or contemplated 
by this Agreement, and so that the conditions to be satisfied by EAC and the Shareholders on or prior to the Closing Date shall then have been 
satisfied.  EAC and the Shareholders will use their commercially reasonable efforts to maintain and preserve the business and operations of 
EAC, and to preserve its relationships with persons or entities having business relations with EAC.  
 

(b)           Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, prior to the Closing Date, without the prior written consent of Buyer, which 
consent shall not be unreasonably withheld:  
 

(i)           EAC will not dispose of any of the Assets having a value of $5,000 or more, except for the sale of water to 
customers in the ordinary course of business.  
 

(ii)           Except for normal expenses incurred in the ordinary course of business, EAC will not incur any additional 
liabilities to the Slanetz Corporation or any other third party in an aggregate amount of $5,000 or more.  
 

(iii)           EAC and the Shareholders will not take any actions that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect their 
ability to consummate the purchase and sale transaction contemplated hereby.  
 

(iv)           EAC will maintain in force all existing liability insurance policies and fidelity bonds relating to the System, the 
Property and the Assets, or policies or bonds providing substantially the same coverage.  
 

(v)           EAC will advise Buyer in writing of any material adverse change or of any event, occurrence or circumstance 
which is likely to cause a material adverse change in any of the Assets or liabilities (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) or 
operations of EAC, taken as a whole.  
 

(vi)           EAC will maintain the Assets in good condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted.  
 

(vii)           EAC will not enter into any new leases or contracts or material modifications or renewals of any existing leases or 
contracts.  
 

(viii)                      EAC will not, in a manner unfavorable to EAC, (i) make any material alterations or additions to the 
Assets, except as may be required by law or as may reasonably be required for the prudent repair and maintenance of the Assets, (ii) change or 
attempt to change (or consent to any change in) the zoning or other legal requirements applicable to the Property, or (iii) cancel, amend or 
modify in any respect materially adverse to EAC any material easement, License, permit or other rights held by EAC.  
 

(ix)           EAC will not enter into or amend any employment, severance, retention, consulting or special pay arrangements 
with any person, or increase the compensation payable to any of its directors, officers or employees.  
 

(x)           EAC will not (i) issue, sell or otherwise dispose of or agree to issue, sell or otherwise dispose of, any shares of 
capital stock of EAC, or any other security convertible into or exchangeable for shares of EAC’s capital stock; (ii) acquire or agree to acquire 
(through redemption, repurchase or otherwise) any of its shares of capital stock; or (iii) authorize, grant or agree to grant any options, warrants 
or other rights to acquire any of its shares of capital stock, or any other security convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock of 
EAC.  
 

(xi)           EAC will not declare or pay any other dividends or make any other distributions in respect of any of the shares of 
its capital stock, provided, however, that EAC may pay cash dividends to the Shareholders after the date of this Agreement but prior to the 
Closing in an amount not to exceed 70% of the net income of EAC for the year 2007 (as reflected in the audited EAC Financial Statements for 
the year ended December 31, 2007).  
 

(xii)           EAC will not change (A) its methods of accounting, except as required by GAAP or (B) its fiscal year, settle or 
compromise any Tax liability or refund claim, or make any material Tax election inconsistent with prior practice or, if no comparable Tax 
election has previously been made, which would increase the current or future tax liability of EAC.  
 

(xiii)                      EAC will not make, propose or agree to any change in its rates, charges, standards of service or accounting 
from those in effect on the date of this Agreement.  
 

(xiv)                      Neither EAC nor the Shareholders will authorize, or commit or agree to take any of the foregoing actions.  
 

4.3   Information and Access .  EAC will give to Buyer and its representatives reasonable access at such times and locations as are 
mutually agreed upon by the Buyer and EAC to all the Assets, and to the books, contracts, documents, records, and files of EAC, and will 
furnish to the Buyer copies of documents, records and financial information with respect to EAC’s business as the Buyer may reasonably 
request. Said access shall specifically include access to (i) all personnel records of EAC (to the extent permitted by applicable law); (ii) all 
contracts and agreements referred to in Section 2.11 hereof; (iii) all files and records described in Section 2.22 hereof; and (iv) the System.  
 

4.4   Lawsuits .  EAC shall notify Buyer promptly if it becomes aware of any lawsuit, claim, proceeding or investigation that may be 
threatened, brought, asserted or commenced against EAC or the Shareholders (a) involving the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by 
this Agreement or (b) which might have an EAC Material Adverse Effect.  
 



4.5   Compliance with Laws .  From the date hereof, EAC and the Shareholders shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause 
EAC to remain in compliance in all material respects with all foreign, federal, state, local and other laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, 
regulations, orders, judgments, and decrees applicable to EAC and any of its operations or Assets, the noncompliance with which could have an 
EAC Material Adverse Effect.  
 

4.6   Current Information .  During the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing Date, EAC will make available one or 
more of their designated representatives to confer on a regular and frequent basis with a representative of Buyer and to report the general status 
of the ongoing operations of EAC.  EAC will promptly notify Buyer of any material change in the normal course of business or in the 
operations or the properties of EAC and of any governmental complaints, investigations or hearings (or communications indicating that the 
same may be contemplated) and will keep Buyer fully informed of such events.  
 

4.7   Notification of Certain Matters .  Upon actual notice thereof, EAC shall give prompt notice to Buyer of (a) the occurrence, or 
failure to occur, of any event which occurrence or failure would be likely to cause any representation or warranty contained in this Agreement 
to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect at any time from the date hereof to the Closing Date, and (b) any failure by EAC or the 
Shareholders to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by them under this Agreement.  
 

4.8   Certain EAC Assets .   Schedule 4.8 sets forth a description of certain assets of EAC which Buyer agrees may be retained by 
the Shareholders after the Closing.  On or before the Closing Date, EAC shall arrange to transfer the motor vehicle registration of EAC’s 1990 
pickup truck and the accounts and billing records for EAC’s cellular phones to the name and responsibility of the Shareholders.  
 
5.   COVENANTS OF THE BUYER  
 

5.1   Cooperation .  The Buyer will use its best efforts (a) to prevent any representation or warranty of the Buyer contained in this 
Agreement from becoming inaccurate, (b) to satisfy the requirements, covenants, and agreements applicable to it as set forth in this Agreement, 
and (c) to satisfy the conditions to the consummation of the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement.  
 

5.2   Notification of Certain Matters .  Upon actual notice thereof, the Buyer shall give prompt notice to EAC of (i) the occurrence, 
or failure to occur, of any event which occurrence or failure would be likely to cause any representation or warranty contained in this 
Agreement to be untrue or inaccurate in any material respect at any time from the date hereof to the Closing Date, and (ii) any failure of the 
Buyer or any officer, director, employee or agent thereof, to comply with or satisfy any covenant, condition or agreement to be complied with 
or satisfied by it under this Agreement.  
 

5.3   Public Announcements .  Buyer shall consult with EAC before issuing any press release or public announcement with respect 
to this Agreement or the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement.  
 
6.   CONDITIONS OF THE BUYER’S OBLIGATIONS  
 

The obligations of the Buyer to be performed by it under this Agreement on the Closing Date shall be subject to the satisfaction, on or 
prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions. Each condition may be waived in whole or in part only by written notice of such 
waiver from the Buyer to EAC and the Shareholders.  
 

6.1   EAC Approvals .  This Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby shall have been approved by the 
Shareholders and Board of Directors of EAC.  
 

6.2   DPUC Approval .  This Agreement and the purchase and sale transaction contemplated hereby shall have been approved by the 
DPUC in form and substance satisfactory to the Buyer in its reasonably exercised judgment.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
such approval shall include a ruling by the DPUC that the Purchase Price paid by the Buyer to the Shareholders for the EAC Common Stock is 
a prudent investment, that the purchase and sale transaction contemplated hereby is in the best interest of ratepayers of both EAC and the Buyer 
and that the entire Purchase Price will be recognized in the Buyer’s rate base at the time of the Buyer’s next general rate case (meaning that the 
Buyer will be allowed to earn a return on the Purchase Price and will be allowed to depreciate the investment in each case in the same manner 
as other investments in plant), such ruling not to include any conditions that adversely affect the rate or regulatory treatment of the Buyer.  
 

6.3   Consents .  EAC shall have obtained any other consents required to enable EAC and the Shareholders to consummate the 
purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement, including those required from the DEP or DPH if any , which shall be in form 
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer.  
 

6.4   Performance by EAC and the Shareholders .  The representations and warranties of EAC and the Shareholders contained in this 
Agreement or in any document delivered by or on behalf of EAC or the Shareholders to the Buyer pursuant to this Agreement shall be true, 
complete and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as though such representations and warranties 
had been made on and as of such date (except as to representations and warranties which speak as of a specified earlier date).  EAC and the 
Shareholders shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements and conditions required by this Agreement to be 
performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date.  A duly authorized officer of EAC and the Shareholders shall each have 
certified to such effect in writing to the Buyer.  
 

6.5   Adverse Change .  Since the date which is the earlier of (a) Buyer’s election to proceed with the purchase and sale transaction 
contemplated herein as provided in Section 1.3(d)(ii)(X) above or (b) the end of the Inspection Period, there shall have been no EAC Material 
Adverse Effect, and Buyer shall have received a certificate of a duly authorized officer of EAC to such effect.  
 



6.6   Condition of Property .  On the Closing Date, except as disclosed herein, there shall be no judicial or administrative or 
condemnation proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of EAC or the Shareholders, threatened concerning the Property which could have an 
EAC Material Adverse Effect.  
 

6.7             Repayment of the Slanetz Corporation .  On or before the Closing Date, the Shareholders shall cause EAC to repay all 
unpaid principal and interested owed to the Slanetz Corporation under the promissory note of EAC dated February 17, 2006 and all “accounts 
payable – associated company” to the Slanetz Corporation for all services performed on behalf of EAC by the Slanetz Corporation on or before 
the Closing Date.  
 

6.8            Form of Documents .  All actions, proceedings, instruments and documents to be taken or delivered by EAC in connection 
with the consummation of the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and 
substance to the Buyer.  
 

6.9            Litigation .  No suit, action, proceeding or governmental investigation shall be pending or, to the knowledge of EAC, the 
Shareholders or the Buyer, threatened before or by any Governmental Body which would, in the reasonable opinion of the Buyer or its legal 
counsel, have an EAC Material Adverse Effect.  
 

6.10            Resignations .  At the Closing, the Shareholders shall cause each of EAC’s officers and directors to resign their positions 
effective upon the Closing Date.  
 
7.           CONDITIONS OF THE OBLIGATIONS OF EAC A ND THE SHAREHOLDERS  
 

The obligations of EAC and the Shareholders to be performed under this Agreement on the Closing Date shall be subject to the 
satisfaction, on or prior to the Closing Date, of each of the following conditions. Each condition may be waived in whole or in part only by 
written notice of such waiver from EAC and the Shareholders to the Buyer.  
 

7.1            DPUC Approval .  This Agreement and the other transactions contemplated hereby shall have been approved by the DPUC. 
 

7.2            Performance by the Buyer .  The representations and warranties of the Buyer contained in this Agreement or in any 
document delivered by or on behalf of the Buyer to EAC and the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement shall be true, complete and correct in 
all material respects at and as of the Closing Date with the same effect as if such representations and warranties had been made on and as of 
such date.  The Buyer shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all agreements and conditions required by this 
Agreement to be performed or complied with by it on or prior to the Closing Date.  A duly authorized officer of the Buyer shall have certified 
to such effect in writing to EAC.  
 

7.3            Form of Documents .  All actions, proceedings, instruments and documents to be taken or delivered by the Buyer in 
connection with the consummation of the purchase and sale transaction contemplated by this Agreement shall be reasonably satisfactory in 
form and substance to EAC.  
 
8.           FRUSTRATION OF CLOSING CONDITIONS  
 

Neither party may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in Article 6 or Article 7 hereof to be satisfied if such failure was caused 
by such party’s failure to act in good faith or to use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Closing to occur, as required by Section 4.1 
hereof.  
 
9.           EXPENSES  
 

If the purchase and sale transaction contemplated herein is consummated, all fees, costs, Taxes and expenses incurred in connection 
therewith shall be paid by Buyer. Except as otherwise specifically provided in Section 1.3(c) of this Agreement, if such purchase and sale 
transaction (a) is not consummated for any reason other than matters which are within the control of EAC or the Shareholders or the result of 
an EAC Material Adverse Effect, then all fees, costs, Taxes and expenses shall be paid in each case by the party incurring such expenses, 
except that Buyer shall reimburse the Shareholders and EAC for legal and accounting fees in an amount not to exceed $60,000, provided that 
the Shareholders submit copies to Buyer of documents establishing the amount of such legal and accounting fees; or (b) is not consummated 
because of matters which are within the control of EAC or the Shareholders or the result of an EAC Material Adverse Effect, then all fees, 
costs, Taxes and expenses shall be paid in each case by the party incurring such expenses.  
 
10.           TAX MATTERS  
 

The following provisions shall govern the allocation of responsibility as between the Buyer and the Shareholders for certain tax 
matters following the Closing Date:  
 

(a)           Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared and file or cause to be filed all Tax Returns for EAC that are filed after the 
Closing Date.  Buyer shall permit the Shareholders to review and comment on each such Tax Return described in the preceding sentence prior 
to filing.  
   

(b)           Buyer and the Shareholders shall cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonably requested by the other party, in connection 
with the filing of Tax Returns and any audit, litigation or other proceeding with respect to Taxes.  Such cooperation shall include the retention 
and (upon the other party's request) the provision of records and information that are reasonably relevant to any such audit, litigation or other 



proceeding and making employees available on a mutually convenient basis to provide additional information and explanation of any material 
provided hereunder.  Buyer and the Shareholders agree (A) to retain all books and records with respect to Tax matters pertinent to EAC relating 
to any taxable period beginning before the Closing Date until the expiration of the statute of limitations (and, to the extent notified by Buyer or 
the Shareholders, any extensions thereof) of the respective taxable periods, and to abide by all record retention agreements entered into with 
any taxing authority, and (B) to give the other party reasonable written notice prior to transferring, destroying or discarding any such books and 
records and, if the other party so requests, Buyer or the Shareholders, as the case may be, shall allow the other party to take possession of such 
books and records.  Buyer and the Shareholders further agree, upon request, to use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any 
certificate or other document from any governmental authority or any other person as may be necessary to mitigate, reduce or eliminate any 
Tax that could be imposed (including, but not limited to, with respect to the purchase and sale transaction contemplated hereby).  Buyer and the 
Shareholders further agree, upon request, to provide the other party with all information that either party may be required to report pursuant to 
Code Section 6043, or Code Section 6043A, or Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.  
   

(c)           All tax-sharing agreements or similar agreements with respect to or involving EAC  shall be terminated as of the Closing 
Date and, after the Closing Date, EAC shall not be bound thereby or have any liability thereunder.  
   
11.           TERMINATION  
 

11.1            Termination by Mutual Consent .  This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing Date by the mutual 
written consent of both (a) EAC and the Shareholders and (b) Buyer.  
 

11.2            Termination by the Shareholders or by the Buyer .  This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing 
Date by the Shareholders or Buyer if (a) the Closing has not occurred on or before January 31, 2009, unless the party seeking to invoke this 
Section 11.2(a) is then in breach of any of its obligations under this Agreement; (b) a court of competent jurisdiction or any governmental 
authority shall have issued an order, decree or ruling or taken any other action, in each case permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise 
prohibiting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such order, decree, ruling or other action shall have become final and 
nonappealable; or (c) the other party shall have breached or failed to comply in all respects with its representations, warranties, covenants and 
agreements contained in this Agreement; provided , however , that if the final DPUC order with respect to the purchase and sale transaction has 
not been received by January 5, 2009, this Agreement may not be terminated unless the Closing has not occurred within 30 days of receipt of 
such DPUC order.  
 

11.3            Remedies .  In the event of termination of this Agreement, no party hereto shall, except as otherwise set forth in this 
Agreement, have any liability or further obligation to any other party to this Agreement; provided , however , that, if this Agreement is so 
terminated by a party because one or more of the conditions to such party’s obligations hereunder is not satisfied as a result of the other party’s 
willful failure to comply with its obligations under this Agreement, the terminating party shall have the right to pursue all legal remedies for 
breach of contract or otherwise including, without limitation, damages relating thereto.  The rights, powers and remedies of the parties under 
this Agreement are cumulative and not exclusive of any other right, power or remedy which such parties may have under any other agreement 
or law.  No single or partial assertion or exercise of any right, power or remedy of a party hereunder shall preclude any other or further 
assertion or exercise thereof.  
 

 
This Agreement may be amended in writing at any time prior to the Closing Date, but only by a writing signed by EAC, the 

Shareholders and Buyer.  At any time prior to the Closing Date, the parties hereto may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the 
obligations or other acts of the other parties, (b) waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other parties contained in 
this Agreement or in any document delivered pursuant to this Agreement or (c) waive compliance by the other parties with any of the 
agreements or conditions contained in this Agreement. Any agreement on the part of a party to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only 
if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party to this Agreement to assert any of its rights under 
this Agreement or otherwise shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.  
 

 
13.1            Governing Law .  This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Connecticut, 

without regard to conflicts of laws provisions.  
 

13.2   Assignment .  This Agreement may not be assigned by any party hereto without the prior written consent of the other parties 
hereto and any attempt to assign without such consent shall be voidable by any party.  
 

13.3   Books and Records .  The Shareholders agree that they will deliver or cause to be delivered to Buyer on the Closing Date all 
corporate minute books and stock transfer records of EAC, to the extent that such books and records are not then in the possession of 
EAC.  The Shareholders may retain any Tax Returns, and Buyer shall be provided with copies of such Tax Returns.  
 

13.4   Notices .  All notices, waivers and consents under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly 
given if delivered, mailed, first-class mail, postage prepaid, or sent via facsimile addressed as follows:  
 

If to EAC or the  
Shareholders:                        The Ellington Acres Company  

170 N. Maple Street  
Enfield, CT 06082  

12.  AMENDMENT, WAIVER, AND INTERPRETATION  

13.   OTHER PROVISIONS  



Attention : Karen LaPlante  
Facsimile: (860) 749-0385  

 
with a copy to:                     Michael F. Halloran, Esq.  

Day Pitney LLP  
242 Trumbull Street  
Hartford, CT 06103  
Facsimile: (860) 275-0343  

 
If to CWC to:                         Connecticut Water Company  

93 West Main Street  
Clinton, CT 06413  
Attention: Thomas R. Marston,  
Vice President – Business Development  
Facsimile: (860) 669-9326  

 
with a copy to:                      Edward B. Whittemore, Esq.  

Murtha Cullina LLP  
CityPlace I, 185 Asylum Street  
Hartford, CT 06103  
Facsimile: (860) 240-6150  

 
13.5   Entire Agreement .  This Agreement supersedes all prior written or oral agreements between the parties with respect to the 

transactions contemplated herein, other than Sections 6 and 7 of the Letter of Intent between the Buyer and the Shareholders dated February 8, 
2008, as amended, and is intended as a   complete and exclusive statement of the terms of this Agreement between the parties with respect to 
the transactions contemplated herein.  
 

13.6   Counterparts .  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be treated as an original, 
but all of which, collectively, shall constitute only one instrument.  
 

13.7   Successors and Assigns .  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and the 
successors and assigns of the parties hereto.  
 

13.8   Severability .  In case one or more provisions contained in this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any 
respect under any applicable law, rule or regulation, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein shall 
not be affected or impaired thereby.   Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being 
enforced, the parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to affect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible 
in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are consummated as originally contemplated to 
the greatest extent possible .  
 
 
 

[THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]  
* * * * * *  

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Stock Purchase Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first 

above written.  
 
 
 
THE CONNECTICUT WATER COMPANY                                                        THE ELLINGTON ACRES COMPANY  
 
 
 
By:            /s/  Eric Thornburg                                                                  By:            /s/ Donald Slanetz  

Name: Eric Thornburg                                                                                              Name: Donald Slanetz  
Title: Chairman, President/CEO                                                                              Title: President  

 
 
 
   
 

SHAREHOLDERS:  
 
 
 

/s/  Karen LaPlante                                                         
Karen LaPlante  



 
 
 

/s/ Betty Slanetz                                                         
Betty Slanetz  

 
 
 

/s/  Donald Slanetz                                                         
Donald Slanetz  

 
 

THE SLANETZ FAMILY TRUST  
 
 
 

By:               /s/  Arthur Slanetz                                                         
                                   Name:  Arthur Slanetz  

     Title:   Trustee  
 
  

  



 
Appendix A – List of EAC Shareholders  

 
 
 
 

 
   
 

  

Stockholder  Shares Held  
Donald A. Slanetz, 170 N. Maple Street, Enfield, CT 06082  72  
Betty A. Slanetz, 170 N. Maple Street, Enfield, CT 06082  52  
Karen S. LaPlante, 166 N. Maple Street, Enfield, CT 06082  52  
Slanetz Family Trust, c/o Arthur Slanetz, Trustee, 1730 Druid Road East, Clearwater, FL 33756  24  

  
  



 
 

DISCLOSURE SCHEDULES  
 
 

[TO COME]  
 
   
 

  

  
  



 
  



 
  

  



 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer  

 
I, Eric W. Thornburg, certify that:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
/s/ Eric W. Thornburg  
Eric W. Thornburg  
Chief Executive Officer  
August 8, 2008  
   

  
Exhibit 31.1 

1.   I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. (the “ registrant” ).  

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report.  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report. 

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:  

(a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed 
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated 
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is 
being prepared;  

(b)   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

(c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and  

(d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has 
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; 
and  

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

(a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  



 
  

  



 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer  

 
I, David C. Benoit, certify that:  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
/s/ David C. Benoit  
David C. Benoit  
Chief Financial Officer  
August 8, 2008  
 

  
Exhibit 31.2 

1.   I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Connecticut Water Service, Inc. (the “ registrant” ).  

2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report.  

3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report. 

4.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:  

a.   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made 
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b.   Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c.   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on 
such evaluation; and  

d.   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5.   The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the 
equivalent functions):  

a.   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and  

b.   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.  



 
  

  



 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. Section 1350  
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002  

 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of The Connecticut Water Service, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 
2008 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Eric W. Thornburg, the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company, and David C. Benoit, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, do each hereby certify, to the best of his 
knowledge, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:  
 

 

 
 
/s/ Eric W. Thornburg  
Eric W. Thornburg  
August 8, 2008  
 
/s/ David C. Benoit  
David C. Benoit  
August 8, 2008  
 

  
Exhibit 32 

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 12(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  

(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operation of the 
Company.  


